DEFINING PRINCIPLES OF EXPERT PERFORMANCE DURING MEDICAL PROCEDURES: OPTIMIZING ASSESSMENT CRITERIA OF PROCEDURAL SKILLS

DEFINING PRINCIPLES OF EXPERT PERFORMANCE DURING MEDICAL PROCEDURES: OPTIMIZING ASSESSMENT CRITERIA OF PROCEDURAL SKILLS

By JASMIN DHANOA, B.Sc. (Hons)

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Jasmin Dhanoa, May 2025

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2025)	(Health Science Education) McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario, Canada
TITLE:	Defining Principles of Expert Performance During Medical Procedures: Optimizing Assessment Criteria of Procedural Skills
AUTHOR:	Jasmin Dhanoa, B.Sc. (Hons) (McMaster University)
SUPERVISOR:	Dr. Elif Bilgic, PhD
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:	Dr. Anita Acai, PhD Dr. Quang Ngo, MD
NUMBER OF PAGES:	xiv, 94

LAY ABSTRACT

An important aspect of being a pediatrician includes performing procedures. Currently, when medical learners are training to become pediatricians, procedural skills training and assessment mainly focus on the technical aspect of the procedure (e.g., psychomotor skills), which could mean that medical programs are missing key skills that are important to perform a procedure safely and effectively- at the expert level. In this thesis, we investigate the skills needed to become an expert in performing pediatric procedures through interviewing expert pediatricians and discussing the skills that they believe are crucial when performing procedures. Overall, we found that the skills needed for procedural expertise go beyond technical skills and encompasses non-technical skillsets such as decision-making, communication, and situational awareness. The findings of this study can be used to improve assessment criteria to ensure that assessment of learners include all of the skills important to perform a procedure.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: For pediatric residency programs, the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada has outlined certain Entrustable Professional Activities that center around procedural skills that residents are assessed on for competency. Currently, procedural skill training and assessment focuses on the technical aspects of procedural performance such as psychomotor skills and knowledge, hindering our understanding of procedural expertise. Madani et al., (2017), have developed a universal framework that describes the core skill domains important for expert performance in the operating room; however, the framework may not be transferable to pediatrics and procedures performed outside of the operating room. This thesis aims to understand the core principles that guide expert performance during medical procedures.

Methods: In this study, we took a qualitative description approach and used Braun and Clarke's reflexive thematic analysis. We conducted semi-structured interviews with faculty from procedure-heavy specialties across Canada, and inquired about general steps in procedures, skills needed for procedural expertise, and procedural training programs.

Results: There were 18 participants in this study from six institutions across

Canada. We identified five themes from our data: (1) Procedural Expertise Requires

Skills that Go Beyond Psychomotor Skills, and Relies Heavily on Non-Technical Skills,

(2) The Generalization of Procedural Expertise is Dependent on the Skills, Specialty, and

Contextual and Patient Factors, (3) Approaching Expected/Unexpected Events in

Procedures and Deciding on Adaptations is a Crucial Part of Expertise, (4) Pediatric

Training Programs Use a Variety of Approaches in Procedural Training, and (5) Decrease
in Procedural Opportunities for Experts Lead to Skill Decay.

Conclusions: In conclusion, the findings of this thesis suggest that the core principles of procedural expertise are similar to the core principles of expert surgeons apart from communication with caregivers. The findings of this thesis can be used in developing holistic assessment plans for procedural performance and modifying Madani et al.'s framework for expertise in pediatric procedures.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Elif Bilgic, for her mentorship and guidance during this research journey and providing me with opportunities beyond this thesis. Dr. Bilgic's patience and support during this master's degree has been pivotal to my academic development. I'm also extremely grateful to my committee members, Dr. Anita Acai and Dr. Quang Ngo, who have both provided their knowledge, expertise, and feedback during this thesis. Dr. Acai, thank you for sharing your knowledge about qualitative research methodologies and deepening my understanding of reflexivity and positionality. Dr. Ngo, thank you for your support in participant recruitment, bringing the clinician lens, and helping me explore the various perspectives of procedural expertise. Also, I'd like to acknowledge Elizabeth Clow in her support with transcribing.

Additionally, I would like to thank the Health Science Education Program, the McMaster Education Research Innovation and Theory Center, and Ontario Graduate Scholarship for the financial and mentoring support to pursue this master's degree.

Also, I would be remiss in not mentioning my family and friends, and their constant encouragement, patience, and humor. Thank you for listening to the (countless) tangents, confused nods and all.

Lastly, I extend my sincere thanks to all participants for sharing their time, experiences, and understanding of procedural expertise – it was a privilege to listen to their insights.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

BMV: Bag-Mask Ventilation

CBD: Competency By Design

CBME: Competency-Based Medical Education

CLV: Central-Line Placement

CPR: Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation

CVC: Central Venous Catheter

DOPS: Direct Observation of Procedural Skills

EPA: Entrustable Professional Activity

IO Insertion: Intraosseous Insertion

ITER: In-Training Evaluation Report

MIST: Minimally Invasive Surfactant Therapy

NICU: Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

NOTSS: Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons

OSCE: Objective Structured Clinical Examination

OR: Operating Room

OSANTS: Objective Structured Assessment of Non-Technical Skills

OSATS: Objective Structured Assessment of Technical Skills

RCPSC: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada

WBA: Workplace Based Assessment

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Jasmin Dhanoa primarily performed the work described in this thesis and was supervised by Dr. Elif Bilgic. Participant recruitment was done with assistance from Dr. Quang Ngo and Dr. Elif Bilgic from the Department of Pediatrics at McMaster University. Study preparation, data collection, analysis, and dissemination were completed with the support of Dr. Anita Acai and Dr. Quang Ngo.

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Procedural Skills in Pediatrics2
1.1.1 Overview of Procedures2
1.1.2 Procedural Skills Needs Assessments in Pediatrics
1.2 Overview of Assessment in Medical Education
1.2.1 Summative and Formative Assessments
1.2.2 Assessment Settings for Observed Assessments
1.2.3 Workplace-Based Assessments
1.2.4 Simulation-Based Assessments
1.3 Evolving Training Paradigm in Medical Education
1.3.1 Competence by Design (CBD): Competency-Based Medical Education in Canada.18
1.3.2 Entrustable Professional Activities
1.3.3 Benefits and Limitations of CBD21
1.3.4 Pediatrics and CBD24
1.4 Overview of Expertise in Procedural Skills24
1.4.1 Deliberate Practice
1.4.2 Expertise in Procedural Skills
1.4.3 Research Objectives
CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY31
2.1 Overview of Study Design
2.2 Recruitment and Participants32
2.3 Interviews
2.4 Analysis of Interview Data34
2.5 Ethics Approval
2.6 Reflexivity Statement36

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS38
3.1 Theme 1: Procedural Expertise Requires Skills that Go Beyond Psychomotor Skills, and Relies Heavily on Non-Technical Skills
3.1.1 Theme 1A: Experts Use Knowledge, Anticipatory Guidance, And Problem Solving in Order to Make Decisions
3.1.2 Theme 1B: Communication and Emotion Management are Fundamental During the Procedure for the Healthcare Team, the Caregivers, and Patients44
3.1.3 Theme 1C: Experience with Performing Procedures is not a Driving Force in Developing Expertise but can be Helpful in Skill Development
3.2 Theme 2: The Generalization of Procedural Expertise is Dependent on the Skills, Specialty, and Contextual and Patient Factors
3.3 Theme 3: Approaching Expected/Unexpected Events in Procedures and Deciding on Adaptations is a Crucial Part of Expertise
3.4 Theme 4: Pediatric Training Programs Use a Variety of Approaches in Procedural Training
3.4.1 Theme 4A: Lack of Consensus Regarding Procedural Skills that Trainees Struggle With53
3.5 Theme 5: Decrease in Procedural Opportunities for Experts Lead to Skill Decay 54
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION56
4.1 Overview of Results
4.2 Cognitive Skills – Decision Making and Situational Awareness58
4.3 Social Skills – Communication Skills
4.4 Personal Resource Skills – Emotion Management
4.5 Assessing Non-Technical Skills in Didactive and Simulation Environments
4.6 The Core Principles that Define Procedural Expertise and its Comparison to Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework
4.7 Implications
4.8 Limitations
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION77
TABLES AND FIGURES80
Table 1: Theme overview, definition, and examples80

REFERENCES	84
APPENDICES	92
APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW GUIDE	92

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1: Theme overview, definition, and examples.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Procedural Skills in Pediatrics

1.1.1 Overview of Procedures

Procedures are a crucial part of patient care in pediatrics, yet it can be difficult for residents to gain competence in procedural skills due to patient safety concerns and limitations in clinical exposure. Clinical practice involving pediatrics procedures is continually evolving due to changes in pediatric illnesses, treatments, technology, and differences in procedural settings (e.g., emergency department versus endoscopy unit), amongst others. Thus, it is becoming increasingly important for pediatric physicians to be competent in procedural skills to effectively practice medicine and meet the needs of the patients and their families. Procedures can be conducted in the operating room (OR), which is a controlled environment that is only accessible to certain individuals that are needed for the procedure, or outside of the OR (e.g., in the emergency department).² In pediatric medicine, most procedures are performed outside of the OR, where physicians are expected to perform procedures in smaller spaces, which can lead to overcrowding, or in spaces with fewer environmental controls (e.g., sterility, lighting, temperature of the room, individuals in the procedural space).³ Therefore, outside of the skills needed to perform the procedures themselves, there are additional complexities depending on the procedural setting and context, which require additional skills to manage a procedure.

1.1.2 Procedural Skills Needs Assessments in Pediatrics

In simple terms, procedural skills can be defined as "the mental and motor activities required to execute a manual task. Procedural skill competence requires both safe technical performance and appropriate knowledge for decision-making in the

preparation, performance and post-performance phases of the procedure."4(p49) Currently, the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) has outlined 26 procedural skills in the objectives for training for pediatrics which were determined through expert consensus.⁵ Procedural skills in pediatrics can range from acute (e.g., wound care) to critical (e.g., emergent tracheal intubation), and residents must demonstrate competence in all skills.⁵ Although procedures are an important part of pediatric medicine, gaining procedural skills has been difficult for trainees across pediatrics training programs, with one reason including less frequent procedural encounters in the clinical setting due to advancements in medicine and better preventative care.^{1,6,7} With this lack of procedural encounters, trainees have fewer opportunities to develop their procedural skills and competence, and both trainees and practicing physicians can struggle with skill degradation, potentially leading to lower comfort levels when performing procedures.⁶

There have been various needs assessments done to explore the competency and comfort of trainees and pediatricians regarding procedures. For example, in a study conducted by White et al. (2021), researchers explored the need for procedural skills in general pediatrics during independent practice. The researchers found that there were procedures that were performed frequently (e.g., bag-valve-mask ventilation [BMV] of an neonate, lumbar puncture, and ear curettage), procedures that were performed rarely (e.g., chest compressions, BMV of a child, and intraosseous line insertion), and procedures that pediatricians had not performed in their career (e.g., peripherally inserted central catheter, central venous line insertion, and peripheral arterial line insertion). Additionally,

pediatricians stated that life-saving procedures such as defibrillation/cardioversion, laryngeal mask airway, and intraosseous insertion (IO) were crucial to practice but infrequently performed. Lastly, pediatricians found it most difficult to maintain skills in intubation of a child, chest tube insertion, and arterial line insertion.

Furthermore, in a study conducted by Cormier et al. (2019), researchers explored self-reported procedure experiences in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU). Residents self-reported competence only in performing lumbar punctures. In addition, only 17% of the residents in this study developed competence in resuscitation skills (e.g., BMV, intubation of an infant less than 28 weeks in NICU). Cormier et al. (2019) found that there was generally a positive correlation between the number of rotations a resident completed and the development of resuscitation skills. Overall, pediatric residents are expected to be competent in NICU resuscitation skills; however, this study found that most residents do not feel competent in these skills. Cormier et al. (2019) have suggested multiple reasons for why NICU resuscitation skills are lacking amongst residents. For example, currently, the RCPSC deems that three rotations are the minimum requirement for neonatal care; however, residents might need more training. Additionally, there is the possibility that there are not enough opportunities for residents to view or perform resuscitation.

Similarly, in a study conducted by Levy et al. (2014), researchers explored resident ratings of the significance of pediatric procedural skills outlined by the RCPSC and resident's ratings of their competence in these procedures; the difference of these

ratings were stated as gap scores. Overall, residents perceived that they are competent in three procedural skills (i.e., BMV, lumbar puncture, and chest x-ray interpretation), while for 23, residents perceived themselves as being unprepared or only somewhat prepared to perform. Additionally, there was a high correlation between perceived importance of a procedure and self-reported competence. However, there were four skills with a large gap between mean importance and competence, which signals to these skills being highly important but residents having lower competence. These skills were evidence/documentation for child maltreatment (gap score = 1.67), IO insertion (gap score = 1.56), chest-tube insertion (gap score = 1.51), and defibrillation (gap score = 1.47). In addition, the perceived importance of and competency in procedures were highly correlated when there was a curriculum in place to teach the specific procedural skills. Also, the importance and competency of procedures was highly correlated when there was a requirement to provide evidence of learnt skills. Overall, the researchers suggested that clinical practice may not provide enough exposure for trainees to develop competence, and formal procedural curricula could support residency education for procedures as well as opportunities for deliberate practice.⁹

To add on, Bismilla et al. explored the perceived importance of procedures and preparedness of residents performing procedures. On average, 12 skills were perceived to be very important (e.g., BMV, cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), IO insertion, lumbar puncture), 17 skills were perceived as important (e.g., bladder catheterization, ear curettage, suturing), and three skills perceived as having little to no importance (e.g., indwelling catheter management, suprapubic aspiration, central venous line [CVL]

placement).¹⁰ Furthermore, residents felt increased preparedness to perform procedures that were a part of the final in-training evaluation report (ITER) compared to procedures that were not included in this assessment.¹⁰ Overall, 10 procedures that were rated as having high importance also had similarly high rates of preparedness, with four of these procedures being on the ITER.¹⁰ Lastly, there was a higher likelihood of a formal curriculum being in place for the procedures that were perceived to be very important and residents were more likely to perceive greater preparedness in the procedures with curricula.¹⁰ A requirement of evidence of the learned skills was also highly correlated with the rated importance of procedures and somewhat correlated with the rated preparedness of residents.¹⁰

Moreover, training can impact a physician's comfort level and confidence in performing procedures later on in clinical practice. For example, many studies have indicated that pediatricians often do not feel comfortable performing life-saving procedures (e.g., defibrillation, chest tube placement) due to limited exposure in training and during practice but are still competent in these procedures. On the other hand, physicians have been shown to feel comfortable handling less emergent cases (e.g., fracture care) as physician's may have more exposure to these types of procedures. To add on, procedures can also be difficult to perform in non-OR pediatric settings due to the aforementioned environmental factors as well as the presence of caregivers (e.g., family members). Caregiver presence can often be an important aspect of care and allows the patient to feel calm and caregivers secure. However, when caregivers are present during a procedure, it can be difficult for physicians to train residents on procedural skills, and it

can be anxiety-provoking for residents.¹⁴ Some concerns cited from residents include feeling increased pressure when attempting to perform a procedure after a failed attempt, ¹⁴ increased procedural failures due to family presence and resident anxiety, ¹³ family perception of resident's knowledge and experience, concerns about legality, ^{13,14} and the supervisor being more likely to take over the procedure. 14 In addition, due to family member presence during the procedure, additional staff may be required to support the family, ¹³ such as Child Life Specialists. Therefore, in pediatrics, where procedures are done outside of the OR, there are additional factors that impact opportunities for procedural skill gain. With all these factors in mind, it is important to acknowledge that pediatricians are responsible for being competent in a diverse set of procedural skills that focus on both technical and non-technical skills. With respect to procedures performed outside the OR, there are many environmental factors that can impact the procedure, and in pediatrics, there may be additional considerations needed (e.g., patient and family related considerations). Regardless of the frequency of procedures, procedural skills are an important aspect of patient care in pediatrics, and it is still crucial for trainees to be competent in procedures and skills required.

1.2 Overview of Assessment in Medical Education

Assessment allows observers (e.g., faculty members) to use judgements to make decisions about learners' skill level for specific clinical tasks and progress within a medical program. The goals of assessment in medical education can be broadly placed into three categories. The first goal of assessment is to promote learning among trainees and physicians to maximize skill gain. The second goal of assessment aims to ensure

that all residents and practicing physicians are upholding professional standards; this goal also focuses on public protection from doctors who might not have achieved competence in certain skills.¹⁶ The last goal of assessment is to be able to use assessment as a way to stratify applicants for selection (e.g., during residency or fellowship applications).¹⁶

Moreover, in medical education, there are three key considerations that must be considered when making assessment judgements.¹⁷ The first consideration is the construct that is being assessed. ¹⁷ In Competence by Design (CBD), these constructs can be illustrated by the various competencies (e.g., procedural skills, communication, etc.) that residents are expected to develop throughout training. 17 The second key consideration of assessment is the use of assessment data and assessment judgements.¹⁷ Assessment data is gathered through various, exams throughout a learner's training (e.g., written test scores, observed assessments) and these pieces of data inform assessment decisions (e.g., passing or failing, developing competence). ¹⁷ The last consideration of assessment is the outcome after a judgement is made. Outcomes of the judgment vary depending on the assessment.¹⁷ For example, based on the assessment data of a resident, if they have achieved competence in certain clinical activities in a specific stage of training, a decision would be made to promote them to the next stage of training. If a resident was not able to achieve competence, then they might be required to go through a remediation process before promotion. Additionally, within medical education, there are many types of assessments that a resident expected to receive to advance in their training and ultimately finish their residency training. Some types of assessments include written examinations (e.g., the Royal College written exams), observed assessments from supervising faculty

through direct observation in the clinical and simulation settings, and multisource assessments (e.g., observed assessments from patients or non-physician healthcare providers). Written examinations are usually presented in an open-ended or multiple-choice format, 16 used to assess the knowledge of a trainee and lead to a pass/fail decision. In addition, assessments from supervising faculty could occur at the end of a rotation where the faculty member provides an overall assessment of the resident's performance in patient care throughout the rotation. Similarly, faculty (or senior trainees) could perform frequent direct observations in the clinical and/or simulations settings in order to assess trainee progress in a specific clinical activity. Lastly, multisource assessments are completed by various individuals outside of the supervisor who observed the resident's performance during a clinical activity, and whose feedback regarding the trainee's performance would be valuable as a part of their competence gain and performance on the clinical activity.

Procedural skills assessment has been widely focused on the technical aspects of a procedure, but it is important to consider the nontechnical skills that are also crucial in performing these procedures. ¹⁸ There are many moving parts to a procedure that occur in the preparation (e.g., communicating with patient and caregivers, obtaining consent, preparing equipment), performance (e.g., communicating with members of the care team, using clinical reasoning, using critical thinking), and post-performance (e.g., debriefing with patient and team) phases of the procedure. ¹⁸ Although all of the assessments mentioned above are used for procedural skills assessment, direct observation is a key method for performance-based assessment. ¹⁹ Performing assessments through direct

observation allows the supervisor to directly observe the learner, providing a comprehensive view of the learner's skills and highlighting strengths and weaknesses.¹⁸

1.2.1 Summative and Formative Assessments

There are two categories of assessments that are commonly used in medical education: assessment of learning and assessment for learning. Assessment of learning is usually associated with summative assessments where residents are assessed on knowledge and skills acquired at a specific point in time, which then may have high-stakes decisions around promotion and readiness to graduate. 17,20,21 Assessment of learning can be beneficial in early medical training when learners are being assessed on core knowledge. 15 Summative assessments also promote self-regulation and accountability in learners but can deter them from pursuing more practice and training due to a greater focus on passing summative assessments instead of gaining skills to develop competence. 22

On the other hand, assessment for learning is usually associated with formative assessments, which are regular and low-stakes assessments of residents. ^{17,20,21} Assessment for learning was developed based on Miller's Pyramid, a framework used to assess clinical competencies. Miller's Pyramid is divided into four stages that all connect to one another to help drive learning and inform assessment. ^{20,23} The bottom of the pyramid starts with the 'knows' stage, which focuses on the declarative knowledge of a trainee and is assessed by factual recall through traditional tests (e.g. multiple choice tests, short answer tests, etc.). ^{20,23} The next level is the 'knows how' stage, which emphasizes the interpretation and application of knowledge and is assessed through essays, case studies,

and problem-solving assessments.^{20,23} The third stage is the 'shows how' level where trainees are to apply their knowledge into practice which can be assessed in the simulation setting through the Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE).^{20,23} The apex of the pyramid is the 'does' stage where trainees perform in the clinical setting under direct observation and assessment usually occurs in the workplace.^{15,20,23}

A key component of formative assessment is providing learners regular feedback to support learning, thus requiring additional resources such as faculty time to provide frequent feedback. ¹⁵ In the past, the focus of assessment was 'of learning.' Now, the primary goal of assessment is to promote learning, which is why assessment for learning is emphasized further through frequent observations and assessments with a considerable focus on feedback. ²⁰ Additionally, assessment for learning connects with overarching values in medical education such as learner-centeredness. ²⁰

However, it is important to note that currently, low-stakes, formative assessments are often summarized and reviewed to make high-stakes, summative decisions as a part of competence committees.¹⁷ Therefore, some educators believe that although the goal of frequent assessments are for learning, these are combined to make decisions of learning, which blurs the purpose of the assessment for both residents and faculty, potentially having an impact on how the assessments are perceived and used for learning. As Van der Vleuten says: "Whenever assessment becomes a goal in itself, it is trivialized and will ultimately be abandoned. Assessment has utility insofar as it succeeds in driving learning, is integrated in a routine and ultimately comes to be regarded as indispensable to the

learning practice."^{20(p609)} Therefore, when using assessments for dual purposes, as is the case currently, it is always essential to remember the ultimate goal of assessment, which is for learning. Thus, programs need to ensure that there are structures in place to keep the focus on learning.²⁰

1.2.2 Assessment Settings for Observed Assessments

Observed assessments are used to help close the knowing-doing gap, ensuring that residents possess the key skills of their specialty, by tracking progress, and informing program decisions about trainees' skills. Aligned with higher order components of assessment, which focus on doing as opposed to just knowing, observed assessments done in the workplace and simulation settings are examples of these higher-order assessments.²⁴ Since the focus of observed assessments in the simulation and clinical settings are mostly for formative purposes, we will focus on the formative piece in this thesis, acknowledging that in each setting, summative assessments are also performed.

1.2.3 Workplace-Based Assessments

Currently, workplace-based assessments (WBAs) are the most common type of assessment done in the settings of patient care.²⁵ Unlike other assessment settings such as simulation, a clinical setting demands more from a resident as patient management is much more complex, requiring the incorporation of multiple skills and knowledge.^{25,26} For example, when learning to perform a procedure such as intubation in a simulation setting, the resident may only need to focus on the technical aspects of the procedure, but in the workplace, the resident may need to lead the room, communicate with the patient, and use technical skills to perform the procedure.^{27,28} In medical education, WBAs are

conducted frequently through direct observation by a faculty, senior learner, or other individuals such as patients and nurses to assess trainee progress, and areas of strength and weaknesses, allowing residents to determine skills to focus on for further progress. ^{28,29} Longitudinal assessment of a learner can also help better integrate feedback into future assessment as there is continuous observation of the resident over time. ²⁹ Specifically, clinical activities can be used for longitudinal assessments as residents can progress through activities at differing rates to develop competence. ³⁰ Assessments in the clinical setting can also offer the chance to assess skills that would be difficult to assess in other settings such as professional behavior, communication with healthcare team, and organization. ²⁶

WBAs also have some drawbacks such as established evidence for its usage for assessment of trainee performance. Assessor variables such as health profession, experience in the field, and psychological factors can all impact the assessment and associated feedback.²⁸ For example, as a part of multisource assessment, a nurse assessor may believe that a resident has achieved certain competencies, which may differ when compared to a faculty physician performing the assessment. However, these two assessors are likely assessing different aspects of performance, hence both of their perspectives would be of great value for a holistic understanding of resident's performance and competence. Experience in the field may also influence assessment as research has shown that generally senior healthcare providers can be stricter with assessments.²⁸ Lastly, the psychological factors such as cognitive load²⁸ and halo effects of raters can sometimes be attributed to a lack of training to assess residents and a lack of a framework to guide

assessment.³¹ Furthermore, when considering procedural skills, some procedures are rare and thus residents may not gain experience or competence that would be reflected in their WBAs. For example, bag-mask ventilation (BMV) and cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) are considered to be very important procedures,^{9,10} but these procedures may not be encountered in the clinical setting for residents to perform and develop. Therefore, when performing WBAs, there needs to be consideration of how WBAs are implemented, especially regarding factors that may contribute to the success or failure of implementation, which would then impact the educational and decision-making value of the WBAs.²⁸

1.2.4 Simulation-Based Assessments

Simulation is a commonly-used system to allow residents to learn and be assessed on both technical and non-technical skills in a realistic, low-risk setting. ²⁵ In the simulation setting, residents can acquire skills and show competence without putting patients at risk, which can be advantageous when trainees are learning procedural skills. ³² Simulation platforms can be used to assess trainees through direct observation both formatively and summatively, using the feedback from simulation learning to inform assessment of the resident's skills and clinical practices. ⁸ Since one of the focuses of medical education is related to providing trainees with optimized and enhanced opportunities for feedback through formative assessments, and since there are no concerns over patient safety in simulation, formative assessments tend to be an important component of simulation sessions. Specifically, through formative assessment, feedback is provided to learners by a more senior learner or faculty. ³³ Although the assessment

forms have space for written feedback, the act of assessment creates opportunities for verbal feedback as well. One effective way of providing feedback is through debriefing, which is done at the end of a simulation scenario and can follow a variety of strategies. Simulation can also be used for summative assessments where trainees are assessed on competence. Overall, the simulation setting can be used for both summative and formative assessments, for example by allowing trainees to use the formative feedback they receive during procedural simulation training to help prepare for an OSCEs, which is a summative assessment.

A common way in which simulation is used for procedural skills training is by first having residents practice procedures in the simulation setting where there are no threats to patient safety before performing in the clinical setting. ^{25,34} As mentioned in prior sections, simulation allows for training and assessment of multiple procedural skills but it also allows for skill maintenance. ^{32,34,35} For example, certain procedures are uncommonly seen in the clinical setting; thus, trainees may not get the opportunity to learn these and receive assessments as a part of their training. Hence, simulation allows for competence development through deliberate practice and mastery learning, and assessment of what was learnt – simulation allows for trainees to build, improve, and maintain the skills acquired from these settings. ^{35,36} In addition, simulation can allow learners to get comfortable with working in interdisciplinary teams, and gain and show competence in skills such as communication and teamwork. ^{34,35} From an educator perspective, simulation is advantageous because it allows for objectives of simulation sessions to be planned beforehand so that trainees can focus on specific skills for training

and assessment, whereas in the clinical setting, clinical activities can be unpredictable.³⁴ In the simulation setting, educators can also perform ongoing assessments and pause the simulation to provide feedback, allow trainees to ask questions, and then re-start the simulation session, allowing educators the opportunity to observe whether trainees were able to implement the feedback to improve performance.³⁴

Research has shown that simulation settings are effective for learning procedural skills and conducting assessments. For example, in a study by Sawyer et al., researchers explored how neonatal resuscitation performance can be improved by using simulation. After assessing the pre- and post-performance of participants, it was found that there was generally a significant improvement in resuscitation skills.³⁷ Similarly, in another study by Velmahos et al., researchers found that trainees who practiced central venous catheterization (CVC) placement in a simulation setting outperformed those who learned by observing educators in the clinical setting. 33,38 Residents were also assessed on attempts on placing the CVC, locating anatomical benchmarks, and there was a multiplechoice test to assess knowledge gained; the simulation group outperformed the traditional learning group in all areas.^{33,38} Assessment of procedural skills in the simulation setting is also useful because supervisors are not always available to observe trainees in the clinical setting due to the demands of the environment, and both the trainee and educator can focus on the individual steps of the procedure.³⁹ Although assessment in the simulation setting can provide many benefits to both trainees and educators, it is crucial to note that simulation is not a substitute for clinical practice as these settings provide their own advantages for trainees.³⁵

When educators are incorporating simulation for training and assessment, there are some limiting factors to consider. Firstly, simulation is not always an adequate resemblance of human behavior and what is learned in the simulation setting cannot always translate to performance in the clinical setting.^{32,34} Human behavior is very complex, and thus more can be learned outside of the simulation setting.³⁴ Next, the design of the simulation can also impact learning. If a simulation is not properly designed, there are defective pieces, or it does not mimic reality to a certain extent, then learning can be impacted as trainees may find shortcuts or gloss over important factors of patient care.³⁴ This can also extend to assessment in a simulation setting. If the assessment is not designed properly to consider factors of simulation, then it can be challenging to assess trainees. For example, if part of a clinical activity is to assess trainees' communication skills with the healthcare team, but the simulation does not account for team members being present, then this assessment might not work correctly. Furthermore, a trainee's mindset going into a simulation assessment may differ from a clinical based assessment because trainees may be already aware of the task at hand. For example, if trainees were aware that the simulation case is to assess communication skills, then there could be overexertion of the skill that is being assessed. Lastly, feasibility issues can also arise in simulation such as high costs, time restraints, and resources available.³⁴

1.3 Evolving Training Paradigm in Medical Education

1.3.1 Competence by Design (CBD): Competency-Based Medical Education in Canada

Medical education has been undergoing major changes. Traditionally, medical education focused on a time-based approach with the education philosophy of assessment of learning. 40,41 However, in 1960s to 1970s, there was a push to change the approach in which physicians were trained due to gaps in the curriculum, a diminishment in basic skills, 40 and a lack of skill in surgical management, medical management, and non-technical skills. 42 While the mentioned issues within medical education was prompting change, other stakeholders, such as patients and public health leaders, were also urging for evolution in medical education to help meet the societal needs of healthcare. 40 Today, Competency-Based Medical Education (CBME) is the international framework that is being implemented in medical education, and is described as "an outcomes-based approach to the design, implementation, assessment, and evaluation of a medical education program using an organizing framework of competencies". 43(p589) With the CBME model, trainees are expected to meet certain competency criteria in order to progress through their training and be deemed competent in their specialty. 44

Although CBME is the international framework in medical education,

Competence by Design (CBD) is the Canadian form of the CBME model introduced in

2017 by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC).⁴⁵ CBD

divides training of specialty programs into four stages; transition into the specialty,

foundations of the specialty, core of the specialty, and transition into practice.⁴⁵ Within

each stage, trainees are expected to achieve learning objectives that are highlighted by

Entrustable Professional Activities (EPAs), which are key tasks of a discipline and are centered around the CanMEDS 2015.⁴⁵ Ultimately, throughout each stage, trainee progress in EPAs and other program requirements are discussed in competence committees to determine progress and needs.⁴⁵

1.3.2 Entrustable Professional Activities

The important components of CBD that connect the theoretical and practical aspects are Milestones and Entrustable Professional Activities (EPAs), which are used to help assess trainees and ensure progress and competence. Milestones are described as the expected skills of a resident at specific stages in the CBD framework, which are general across all specialties. Each Milestone includes observable markers of a residents' skill along a developmental continuum, and are used for planning, teaching and assessment. Hence, Milestones are also used by educators to determine if residents are progressing at the appropriate pace. PAs on the other hand can be defined as key tasks of a discipline that an individual can be trusted to perform without direct supervision in a given health care context, once sufficient competence has been demonstrated. In CBD, EPAs are the framework for assessment, and each EPA includes multiple milestones. When performing EPAs, trainees must be observed by a senior physician (e.g., faculty, a trainee more senior than the trainee being observed) in order to receive mentoring, feedback, and assessment in the EPAs.

The RCPSC has designed EPAs to be developmental so trainees will begin training with smaller responsibilities and then progress to larger responsibilities.⁴⁷ EPAs are also designed to allow both the resident and supervisor to have a thorough

understanding of the competencies and expectations that a resident should achieve at specific stages of training.⁴⁷ The crucial aspect of EPAs is entrustment of decision-making, which signals to the trainee that they have the knowledge and skills to practice specific clinical activities unsupervised, which is the ultimate goal of CBD.⁴⁴ Once the trainee is successful in performing a specific EPA unsupervised, they have gained competence in that activity.⁴⁴ Entrustment also acknowledges that a trainee will not be able to learn all clinical tasks at once, but as competency is gained, trust and autonomy is given to the trainee to practice and make judgements of the situation at hand.⁴⁴ It is important to recognize that EPAs differ among specialties, and trainees are required to understand the skills that align with their specialty. For example, EPAs in General Surgery require residents to be competent in many more procedures compared to residents in Pediatrics or Emergency Medicine.

Focusing on pediatric procedural skills as a part of the core pediatrics residency program, the EPAs that are associated with these skills include Foundations EPA #7

Performing basic pediatric procedures (e.g. bag valve mask ventilation; cardiopulmonary resuscitation, lumbar punctures), Core EPA #1 Resuscitating and stabilizing neonates following delivery (e.g. neonatal resuscitations), Core EPA #9 Performing core pediatric procedures (e.g. chest tube; ear curettage, chest tube insertion, intubation), and Core EPA #14 Providing teaching and feedback (e.g. teaching procedural skills). ⁴⁸ These EPAs focus on technical skills such as safety and procedural performance, but also non-technical skills such as communication, decision-making, management of complications, and self-awareness. ⁴⁸ Therefore, as evident from the EPAs, procedural competence is an

important part of the core pediatrics program, and most of the procedures are focused on further in pediatric sub-specialties, ¹² including emergency medicine, critical care, neonatology, and gastroenterology.

1.3.3 Benefits and Limitations of CBD

The CBD model has shown many promises to improve medical training so physicians can be effective in clinical practice. One of the most important aspects of the competency framework is that it is an outcomes-based model that takes a learner-centered approach, where there is a greater focus on trainee skills and less importance on how long a trainee spends in their training. ⁴⁹ Hence, with a focus on outcomes, programs can ensure that their learners have the necessary skills to prepare them for independent practice and address societal needs.⁴⁹ Additionally, an emphasis on trainee competencies and skill attainment allows trainees to be exposed to a variety of educational and clinical experiences that build upon each other to promote constant learning, and create a holistic physician. 42,49 Hence, the lessened importance of time-based outcomes and a learnercentered approach has cultivated a flexible training environment where each trainee can understand their own skill levels and areas of weakness (competence not achieved) to work towards strengthening and achieving competence.⁴⁹ With the traditional medical education framework, there was the issue of 'failure to fail' where generally, all trainees would be able to progress through training after a specified period due to the emphasis of the time-based model.⁵⁰ However, with CBD, trainees can only progress through training after competence is gained.⁵⁰ Additionally, the CBD model has created an overall positive learning environment where residents are given the opportunity to gain formal feedback

from their educators, and CBD has cultivated a supportive environment where residents, supervisors, educators, and other stakeholders all work together to help learners gain competency for each EPA.⁴² Although CBD has achieved some of the goals of the framework, there have been some disadvantages and criticisms. The literature suggests that one of the most prominent criticism of the competency framework is that the model takes a reductionist approach where assessments focus on very detailed measurable competencies that remove space for self-discovery and training beyond competency levels.⁵¹ Although the purpose of CBD is to allow trainees to gain a variety of experiences in their training, many have argued that the assessments serve more as a checklist for trainees to complete. 42,44,49,51 There have also been arguments made that specific skills and behaviours (e.g. patient-physician relationships, situational awareness, metacognition) among physicians cannot be measured using the competency framework because human behavior is too complex to be assessed through discrete activities.⁴⁴ Another challenge with the competency-based framework is reported as the lack of psychometric evidence supporting the framework. In the CBD framework, one method of assessment is through direct observation of skills, including workplace-based assessments (WBAs); however, WBAs have low validity evidence within the context of medical training.⁵¹ The reason for validity concerns with WBAs is because of the unpredictability of everyday practice, thus making it difficult to gauge whether the assessment truly represents patient care across different contexts. 52 Nonetheless, even with further research investigating CBD and psychometric measures, medicine is becoming more and more complex with interdisciplinary teams and technologically-advanced care to allow for the

metrics to consider all factors at play.⁵¹ Also, CBD has many challenges in implementation. 43,51 Firstly, faculty are often not trained to teach within the CBD model which causes a variety of difficulties in the assessment and feedback practices EPAs were created nationally with the hope of standardizing the clinical activities that are essential for each specialty, ensuring that residents gain competence in those pre-determined activities. 42 However, there seems to be a misalignment between the standard set of EPAs versus when residents get exposed to those EPAs and other activities not currently covered that could also be important for a specialty. 42,54 Other issues with the EPAs include receiving consistent and high quality feedback from supervisors, worries about supervisor-trainee relationship due to continuous requests of completing EPA assessments, and lack of transparency of the evidence needed to be deemed competent in an EPA. 3,11,12 Secondly, with the advancements in medical education, there are more stakeholders involved in the processes of implementing CBD (e.g., government stakeholders, program directors, leads in postgraduate medical education, educational assistants, faculty, trainees), causing greater problems in coordinating the needs of the public. 43 Also, with all the different stakeholders, there is the issue of inter-agency data sharing as there are not many systems put in place to share data between parties.⁴³ Furthermore, residents have criticized the CBD model for its false claims of focusing on competency of residents instead of time-based outcomes. 42 Theoretically, residents should be able to complete their training once competence in all EPAs have been achieve per stage of training, but logistically this cannot work. 42,49 CBD is still influenced by the time-based model where residents will generally progress forward within the estimated

graduation date.⁴² Some residents have expressed their lack of confidence in the CBD framework due to the excessive amount of administrative stress (i.e. paperwork), greater time commitment, negative impact on mental health, and challenges with technology associated with the EPA assessments.^{3,11,12} Residents have also mentioned that light-procedural specialties, such as internal medicine, might not have needed CBD as the previous framework was very successful.⁴² CBD is still evolving within Canada; thus, it is important to acknowledge that these frameworks still need to be adapted by educators and learners.

1.3.4 Pediatrics and CBD

Pediatrics covers a wide variety of specialties and patient population including children and youth, and pediatrics trainees are expected to be competent in various procedural and non-procedural skills.⁵⁵ CBD was introduced across the Canadian Pediatrics programs starting in July 2021 with the core pediatrics program, and some programs are still undergoing transition.⁵⁶ Similar to the other specialties, the core pediatrics residency training is divided into 4 stages, each including EPAs relevant to each stage. Specifically, there are 2 EPAs in Transition to discipline, 11 EPAs in Foundations, 14 EPAs in Core, and 5 EPAs in transition to practice.⁵⁷ These EPAs focus on a variety of competencies such as patient management, procedural skills, interpersonal skills, and communication, among others.⁵⁷

1.4 Overview of Expertise in Procedural Skills

Within CBD, although the goal is for residents to reach a 'competent' level rather than an 'expert' level, once a learner becomes an independent physician, they are

expected to perform at an expert level to enhance patient safety. Therefore, understanding expertise would allow for the optimization of training and assessment strategies within residency programs to ensure that there is an alignment between skills required in training and practice.

An expert can be defined as an individual who "devotes most of their lives to attaining the highest levels of performance in a highly constrained activity". ^{58(p274)} There are numerous frameworks of expertise that have been used in medical education, one being the Dreyfus and Dreyfus model of expertise that maps out a learner's professional progression through five different stages.⁵⁹ The first stage is the novice stage where the learner is responsible for adhering to rules without context.⁵⁹ In the second stage, advanced beginner, the learner starts to understand context and gains experience.⁵⁹ The third stage is the competent stage where the learner has gained enough experience to develop competency (i.e. target of CBD).⁵⁹ The next stage is the proficient stage where the learner has developed automaticity with certain tasks as past experience has helped shape patterns of recognition.⁵⁹ The last stage is the expert, where the learner can intuitively solve problems instead of strictly following the rules and principles which were the focus of the earlier stages.⁵⁹ Using intuition is an important quality of an expert, as it allows performance through the usage of tacit knowledge which cannot always be communicated because it is not entirely available in the conscious mind.⁵⁹ In fact, the Dreyfus and Dreyfus model and other research argue that expert performance is automatic and performed subconsciously where it can be difficult for the expert to outline the steps or skills required for performance.^{59,60} This is why many skills can be taught through

demonstration of performance instead of description.^{60,61} For example, an expert physician may choose to demonstrate how to intubate a patient instead of describing how to intubate, as it can be difficult to communicate all the different steps in the procedure. Another quality of an expert is the ability to adapt to changes quickly and efficiently.⁶² An expert performer can identify and break down the current clinical situation while also thinking about the next series of steps needed to perform a task. 62 Experts who have had ample experience at a task are able to automatically adapt to shifting situations and react to the unfamiliarity. 62 Similarly, expert performers exhibit cognitive skills where they use monitoring, planning, reasoning, and anticipating for performance. 58 For example, when performing a high stakes procedure, an expert physician will not only prepare for the procedure itself but also prepare for any complications by preparing equipment and gathering personnel ahead of time. Furthermore, extensive knowledge of the field and task is another quality of an expert.⁵⁸ Specifically, in medicine, expert physicians have greater advanced clinical reasoning and knowledge of diagnostic options compared to trainees who may rely on biomedical reasoning to make diagnostic decisions.⁵⁸

1.4.1 Deliberate Practice

Generally, in a given field, all learners start in a similar stage where they must practice and gain experience in order to become proficient in a given task and perform independently.⁶³ Once these skills and tasks have been performed regularly, the individual will reach a point of arrested development where the task is performed automatically, without conscious effort.^{63,64} Some learners will strive to pursue further improvements and learning in the given task to develop more skills; these learners are

usually deemed experts.⁶³ These learners likely use deliberate practice to improve skills. Deliberate practice can be defined as "the individualized training activities especially designed by a coach or teacher to improve specific aspects of an individual's performance through repetition and successive refinement."58(p278-279) From an educator perspective, using deliberate practice in teaching has been broken down into 5 stages. Firstly, motivating the learners to improve performance. 63,65 Secondly, having clear objectives for a specific task; the objective of the task is to improve in a part of the performance. 63,65 Third, having measurable parameters in place for performance. 63,65,66 Fourth, repeated practice of the specific skills. 63,65,66 Lastly, giving constructive feedback in a timely manner. 63,65,66 These five stages can be repeated in a cycle to allow for skill development and performance improvement. 63,65,66 Learners should be given multiple opportunities to practice the task repetitively in order to improve. 63,65,66 Additionally, in medicine, deliberate practice can be done in both the clinical and simulation settings. In the clinical setting, a learner can focus on specific aspects of training in order to improve skill. For example, a learner may choose to focus on tying the end of the suture correctly and with the guidance of a supervisor, they can receive feedback and practice repeatedly. In some cases, deliberate practice cannot be accomplished in the clinical setting, thus simulation can be used.⁶⁷ In simulation, deliberate practice can be feasible and possible due to less concerns regarding patient safety.⁶⁷ Also, more learners can use simulation for deliberate practice because the simulation can be repeated compared to waiting for a specific case in the clinical setting.⁶⁷ Lastly, simulation is especially advantageous because it can mitigate the 'failure to fail' phenomenon as simulation can allow learners to learn from mistakes

and learn complex cases in a low risk setting.⁶⁷ However, as mentioned at the beginning of this section, though the goal of training programs is to strive for competence rather than expertise (while still using deliberate practice techniques), unless we have a deeper understanding of knowledge and skills that are crucial to perform a procedure at the expert level, educators might be missing to train and assess residents on those crucial skills, which might lead to programs inaccurately deeming residents as competent when in fact they might be missing important knowledge and skills.

1.4.2 Expertise in Procedural Skills

Currently, expertise in procedural skills is not well understood, which is also reflective of the definition of procedural skills provided by the RC (definition in section 1.1.2 of the thesis), which focuses on technical skills. Based on the medical education literature and expertise literature, the closest understanding of procedural skills and expertise is the framework that was defined by Madani et al.,⁶⁸ (2017) where researchers investigated the domains of intraoperative decision-making and behaviors of expert surgeons. The study found five themes that reflect the domains of expert performance in the Operating Room (OR); psychomotor skills, declarative knowledge, interpersonal skills, personal resourcefulness, and advanced cognitive skills.⁶⁸ First, psychomotor skills are defined as motor functions that work together to form a chain of events that results in procedural performance.⁶⁸ In the assessment of psychomotor skills, there is a heavy emphasis on technical skills such as motion, instrument handling, hand-to-eye coordination, and precision.⁶⁸ Second, declarative knowledge is split into three sections; knowledge of the human body, knowledge of surgical practices, and knowledge of

literature.⁶⁸ Knowledge of the human body comprises of information pertaining to anatomy, physiology, and pathology. ⁶⁸ Secondly, knowledge of surgical practice includes the chain of events in surgery, planned and unplanned events, and knowledge of instruments and equipment. 68 Thirdly, knowledge of literature pertains to the knowledge regarding the specific case.⁶⁸ Third, interpersonal skills refers to the harmony of the healthcare team working together.⁶⁸ Teamwork, communication, and cooperation are used so team members can work together to complete the surgery. ⁶⁸ Additionally, leadership and management skills are used to ensure that the team is productive and effective in completing the surgeries in a timely manner. ⁶⁸ Fourth, personal resourcefulness domain includes individual factors (i.e. physical factors, psychological factors, and social factors) that could impact performance during surgery.⁶⁸ Finally, advanced cognitive skills are described as higher order thinking skills that are exhibited through the performance and behaviors in the OR.⁶⁸ Overall, although this study by Madani et al.⁶⁸ outlines features of expertise in procedural skills, this study focused on intraoperative performance in surgery, hence the findings might not be transferable to pediatrics, or procedures performed outside of the operative setting. Hence, it will be very important to clearly understand the knowledge and skills that are important when performing pediatric procedures successfully at an expert level, so that better assessment criteria could be established that go beyond technical skills.

1.4.3 Research Objectives

The purpose of this thesis study is to understand the core principles (e.g., knowledge and skills) that are essential for expert performance during pediatric procedures, going beyond technical skills. Our research question is what are the core principles that guide expert performance during a medical procedure?

CHAPTER 2: METHODOLOGY

2.1 Overview of Study Design

This is a qualitative descriptive study whereby reflective thematic analysis was performed to address our research objectives. Specifically, we conducted semi-structured interviews with pediatrics faculty who practice in procedure-heavy specialities such as pediatric emergency medicine, pediatric gastroenterology, neonatology, and pediatric critical care. Our work was guided by the Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework developed by Madani et al.⁶⁸ (framework described in section 1.4.2 of the thesis). Specifically, the framework was used to guide the development of our interview guide and the interpretation/summary of our data.

2.2 Recruitment and Participants

Through the support of education leaders and faculty colleagues, participants were recruited nationally through email. Those who were interested in participating in the study were asked to either fill out a recruitment form or directly email the principal investigator or graduate student for more information. Since this study was focused on procedure-heavy specialties in pediatrics and is about expertise, our inclusion criteria required participants to be faculty members and from pediatric emergency medicine, pediatric gastroenterology, neonatology, or pediatric critical care.

Once participants were recruited, they were asked to read and sign the consent form, complete a demographics form, and participate in an interview. The demographics form asked basic questions regarding the participant's personal and professional background, types of procedures performed, number of years in practice, number of procedures performed monthly, experience with EPAs.

2.3 Interviews

An interview guide (Appendix A) was created in collaboration with an expert clinician and education scientists, using what is known about EPA assessments, expertise, and training and assessment in medical education. Since this study focused on procedural expertise in general and is not specific to a certain procedure, we formulated our interview questions to be broad yet distinctive to different types of procedures. The interview guide went through several iterations to optimize the depth of data to be captured and to clarify the questions. For example, the first iteration of the interview questions focused on the general steps of a procedure and skills of an expert proceduralist. Then, we added questions that focused on unexpected events during procedures and adaptations needed to mitigate these events; these questions were added to help understand the skills experts develop when procedures do not go as planned. Furthermore, in the next iteration of the interview guide, we added questions that highlighted types of procedures. Specifically, we decided to ask about the frequency of procedures and challenging procedures. We made these modifications to the interview guide based on the research team discussions, along with the information we found in the literature surrounding assessment needs in procedural skills. Lastly, two pilot interviews were conducted to help modify the interview guide to better address the research objectives. After these interviews, further modifications were made, including grouping procedures into three categories: high stakes versus low stakes, easy versus difficult, and common versus rare. These categories were developed to help us explore the types of skills needed to perform a variety of procedures and whether certain skills are more

important over others, depending on the procedure group. Additionally, some procedures can overlap in these categories (e.g., an intubation may be described as high stakes, difficult, and rare), so participants may describe expertise based on their perceptions of the procedures or versions of the procedures that would be in different categories. Also, participants explored whether there are any similarities or differences in skills needed between and across the categories (e.g., high-stakes versus low-stakes procedures; high-stakes versus rare procedures).

Interviews were conducted online via Zoom and took between 40 to 60 minutes each. The audio was recorded using the recording function on Zoom and transcribed using an external transcription service whom we had a confidentiality agreement with. We continued to recruit participants until we believed that thematic sufficiency was reached. We determined thematic sufficiency based upon the depth of data collected; for example, we stopped data collection when we stopped hearing new information from the participants. Additionally, we used Guiding Questions When Evaluating Evidentiary Value of Qualitative Interviewing Findings developed by LaDonna et al., (2021) as a guiding tool for thematic sufficiency. Upon completion of the interview, participants received an electronic gift card valued at \$20.

2.4 Analysis of Interview Data

For the analysis of our interview data, Braun and Clarke's reflexive thematic analysis was used.⁷⁰

There are 6 steps in the analysis:

- (1) Familiarization with the Data: The data were transcribed and reviewed.
- (2) Systematic Data Coding: Initial codes were developed across the data by reading the transcripts line by line and coding specific ideas, which were combined according to the data set.
- (3) Generating Initial Themes: Themes were created based on similar codes from the previous step by grouping similar concepts together, with the guidance of our interview guide (e.g., grouping ideas together based on the different sections/groups of questions from the interview guide).
- (4) Developing/Reviewing Themes: Both codes and themes were reviewed against the datasets to ensure that they represented the data and that no important ideas were missing. Both codes and themes were analyzed carefully to ensure that there was no repetition of ideas, to merge ideas together or separate ideas that needed their own theme, and to ensure themes were authentic.
- (5) Theme Naming/Refining/Defining: Themes were named and defined to reflect the data. Individuals external to facilitating the interviews helped review the themes and provided feedback on any changes that were necessary.
- (6) Report writing: Themes were established and linked back to address the research objectives. Specific quotes were selected from the transcripts to help support the findings of the data.

To ensure the trustworthiness and authenticity of our results, we: (1) maintained an audit trail, to keep a record of all decisions and their rationale, (2) built a robust research team to help consider multiple perspectives in our findings, (3) involved health professions and education scientists from different backgrounds in data collection and analysis, (4) involved additional personnel external to the research to support in pilot interviews, review data, and refine the themes, and (5) conducted field observations in procedure-heavy specialities in both clinical and simulation settings. A field observation guide was developed based on the interview guide to connect what is reported in the interviews to what is seen in practice. The graduate student used the field observation guide to take notes and capture the expert's thoughts, decisions, and skills.

2.5 Ethics Approval

This study received ethics approval from the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HiREB) #16524.

2.6 Reflexivity Statement

Currently, I, Jasmin Dhanoa, am pursuing a Master of Science in the field Health Science Education. In my undergraduate studies, I have had some experience in qualitative research within the broader field of education. Specifically, I have helped facilitate focus groups, analyze qualitative data, and supported manuscript writing.

Additionally, in the 1st year of my masters, I have taken a qualitative research course, all of which have informed different stages of my thesis project. It is also important for me to

acknowledge my identity as part of this research and how it may influence the research. Coming into this thesis, I am a non-clinician, with very little clinical experience. During my undergraduate training, I had the opportunity to volunteer and work in a family physician clinic where I would help interview patients and complete administrative work. I would also shadow or assist in small procedures in the clinic such as skin biopsies, mole removal, or joint injections. This experience has allowed me to work closely with an expert health professional and understand some of the skills required to perform procedures. Lastly, although I do not have lived experiences related to CBD, I have been actively reading the literature related to our topic of interest and have been holding conversations with physicians, learners, and education scientists involved in CBD to gain a deeper understanding of their experiences.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Overall, there were five main themes identified from our data: (1) Procedural Expertise Requires Skills that Go Beyond Psychomotor Skills, and Relies Heavily on Non-Technical Skills, (2) The Generalization of Procedural Expertise is Dependent on the Skills, Specialty, and Contextual and Patient Factors, (3) Approaching Expected/Unexpected Events in Procedures and Deciding on Adaptations is a Crucial Part of Expertise, (4) Pediatric Training Programs Use a Variety of Approaches in Procedural Training, and (5) Decrease in Procedural Opportunities for Experts Lead to Skill Decay.

We interviewed 18 participants from six institutions: McMaster University, Western University, McGill University, University of Alberta, University of Montreal, and University of Toronto from March to November 2024. Of the 18 participants, nine were pediatric emergency physicians, four were in pediatric critical care, three were neonatologists, and two were pediatric gastroenterologists. Participants had a wide variety of experience in practice ranging from zero to five years and over 16 years. Moreover, participants' monthly procedure count ranged from one to five procedures to over 51 procedures.

3.1 Theme 1: Procedural Expertise Requires Skills that Go Beyond Psychomotor Skills, and Relies Heavily on Non-Technical Skills

Most participants expressed that technical skills such as hand-eye coordination, moving hands in synergy, and fine and gross motor skills are important for performing procedures, independent of the type of procedure. However, in low-stakes, common, and easy procedures, there is a certain level of automaticity with technical skills as these procedures are performed frequently. On the other hand, participants shared that in rare

procedures, there is less automaticity, thus rehearing the steps of the procedure and following protocols and guidelines were suggested as important.

"I think that as time goes on [low-stakes procedures] almost becomes a little bit more automatic for us, once you've practiced [for] a longer period of time. I still have [to] often [think] things through, but I don't think I'm probably as deliberate about it."

Non-technical skills, on the other hand, determine expertise, as these skills require the proceduralist to think beyond the technical aspects of the procedure and include all other events that are also occurring. For example, before performing the procedure, the expert must prepare for the procedure and any complications and communicate with their team, the patient and their caregivers, while also paying attention to incoming patients and their needs.

"For the junior [trainees], [who are] doing it for [the] first time, it's just more the psychomotor skills that become the main objective [...] not as much how are you preparing the intubation medications? What's your backup plan when you do something? [Or] What are you expecting to see?"

3.1.1 Theme 1A: Experts Use Knowledge, Anticipatory Guidance, And Problem Solving in Order to Make Decisions.

For all procedures, the importance of knowledge was discussed the most during the interviews by participants, as they believed knowledge helped them make informed decisions. Participants believed that knowledge of indications, contraindications,

anatomy, physiology, procedure optimization, the steps of the procedure, the equipment, troubleshooting, and complications were all important.

"When you're actually in it you've got to take that knowledge you learn in the classroom and determine whether or not it's safe to proceed."

Moreover, three skills that were highly discussed in the interviews by participants were situational awareness, problem solving, and decision making. Participants expressed that situational awareness is key to becoming an expert, as experts must use anticipatory guidance in order to detect problems quickly and solve them. Also, experts must be aware of their surroundings (e.g., Emergency Medical Services alerts, patient management), and their own personal strengths and limitations (e.g., skill-based constraints, emotional management). For example, an expert needs to reflect on their current strengths and consider if they are the ideal person to be performing the procedure and whether there is someone else who should perform (e.g., with higher procedural log for the specific procedure).

"So typically, in high stake procedures either I'm doing it [or] [...] I would delegate to the senior fellow with me or [...] call a backup neonatologist. [I would say] I need you to cover for that [...] [or] I'll be your back up and then I'm taking care of other things because in the NICU it's not unusual to have two or three patients in crisis at the same time. You need to figure out which one to delegate, which one to do and how you do it, how to be efficient. Then you're intentional and focused in the moment at the same time, so now it happens automatically, but

in my early career, like I had to be systematic about it to get to that level that's like [automatic]."

Participants mentioned that other considerations include any personal limitations such as tiredness, stress, or certain emotions (e.g., anxiety) that may impact their performance, so the expert needs to manage their emotions to perform the procedure safely. Additionally, for low-stakes and easy procedures, participants shared that situational awareness is still needed; however, since these cases are usually less urgent, troubleshooting can be addressed using more resources such as imaging, consulting other professionals, or trying alternative treatment options.

"There are different techniques that you can use to try [to] still do the procedure.

But there are definitely times where you say, okay, I'm just going to have to stop

here and look at an alternative way to achieve the stability that you seek."

Similarly, problem solving was stated to be crucial amongst experts, as high-stakes and difficult cases can be urgent, and complications need to be corrected in a timely manner. Additionally, participants mentioned that an expert understands that problem solving does not always require a big change in what is currently being done.

Usually, problem solving will entail a simple change such as changing the positioning of the patient or changing equipment. Problem solving can also entail abandoning the procedure or calling for help; however, most participants understood that they are usually the last line of help as they are the expert. Hence, calling for help could mean consulting

with other specialties (i.e., surgery) that may be more equipped in problem solving in areas relevant to the case.

"But I think that really there's minor adaptations that we always do in a procedure [...] Sometimes they happen automatically. [If] I can't see, am I even thinking about what I am doing to reposition myself? I may not. It may just happen almost subconsciously. So, I think that there are adaptations that happen without us necessarily deliberately thinking about it, once you have achieved a certain level of competence [...] [If] you're struggling and you're not successful and you've done the usual things that you would do to be successful, and then you have to say okay, no, I need to move on to either a different procedure or I need to do this in a different manner. I think those larger adaptations that probably happen after you've done the small things [...] With regards to do you abort the procedure and move to a different procedure? I think that depends a little bit on the high stakes level of it [and] the patient status? Do you have time?"

Lastly, participants stated efficient and effective decision making sets apart experts from novices. Decision making will occur during all phases of a procedure, including the pre-procedure (preparation), intra-procedure (performance), and post-procedure phases of the procedure. In the preparation phase, participants shared that experts will make decisions regarding the necessity of the procedure, the personnel needed, the equipment needed, the treatment plan, backup plans, approaches for troubleshooting regarding anticipated complications, and procedural optimization (e.g.,

positioning the bed or patient). During the procedure, if there is an unanticipated complication, the healthcare team may not be aware of the next steps, so the expert needs to decide on the next steps and then communicate with everyone. In the post-procedural phases, the expert will make decisions regarding monitoring/testing the patient to ensure that the procedure was successful.

"So, the way I look at it is the situation overall because I think also about what else is going on because you're not dealing with that patient in isolation. You're still responsible for 70 other babies in the NICU, not necessarily in other settings. So, one is the situational awareness of what else going on. Two is the patient [and] the patient stability needs [and] different needs — the procedure, the difficulty of the procedure, what I need for the procedure, equipment so on. [Three] the support that I need, so reflection on my own and then the team that I have."

3.1.2 Theme 1B: Communication and Emotion Management are Fundamental During the Procedure for the Healthcare Team, the Caregivers, and Patients

Communication was another non-technical skill that most participants discussed in the interview. Participants stated communication plays a key role in all phases of the procedure, as it allows everyone to have a shared mental model of the procedural plan and decisions that are made throughout. Participants shared that in preparation, the expert will communicate the mental model of the procedure with the healthcare team through a procedural pause prior to beginning the procedure. This entails discussing the course of treatment, the steps of the procedure, any anticipated complications, troubleshooting

steps, and backup plans. During the procedure, experts will continuously communicate with the team by directing the room, explaining the next steps of the procedure, and communicating any changes in the procedural plan. In the post-procedural phase, the expert will communicate the success of the procedure to the team and the next steps in care. Specifically in difficult and rare procedures, participants mentioned that communication will be more deliberate, particularly in the preparation and performance phases, as the expert and team may not be as familiar with the steps or procedural plan.

"I think [in] the rare procedures, I just don't have as much subconscious
[thinking] to rely on, [so] I would spend more of my mental energy, cognitive
load, thinking about and planning for complications because it is rare. I know I
just can't rely on quick responsiveness of myself or the team because we just don't
do [rare procedures] as often."

Communication with the patient and caregivers was also stated by participants to be important at the expert level. The participants stated that the expert will take time to communicate the need of the procedure, the risk and benefits, and they will answer any questions the caregivers have before obtaining consent. The expert may also communicate with the patient during the procedure and use the appropriate language based on the patient's age to ensure they feel comfortable. Many participants shared that they collaborate with other healthcare professionals (i.e., nurses, child life specialists) to support communication and emotion management of the caregivers and patients to allow for the expert to focus on the procedure. Sometimes the expert team cannot communicate

in the moment due to the urgency of the procedure, so they will communicate with the family after the procedure is complete. However, in low-stakes or easy procedures, participants shared that they can usually take time to explain the procedure and obtain consent and communicate with the family while performing the procedure.

"During these procedures, [...] if I am leading a resuscitation or something, I am in constant contact with the family and summarizing things out loud for the entire team and making sure everyone is fully aware of what we are doing now, what are the next steps, and if this is not successful, what do we do next? And also asking for input – is there anything else that we need to do? Is there anything that I missed?"

Additionally, emotion management of their own emotions and the teams' emotions were deemed important by most participants. Participants expressed that they try to acknowledge and control their own and teams' anxieties about the procedure if it is a difficult or high-stakes procedure, and although many participants mentioned that they do not always have time to reflect on their emotions, they allow their team to have a break. In extremely stressful situations (e.g., death of a patient, intensive resuscitation), the whole unit will have an emotional debrief to discuss their emotions. Overall, the expert and team rely on each other for emotional support, and during the procedure, they try to remain calm and professional, so they can debrief later.

"In critical situations, it's extremely important to be open to input and to be able [to], in the moment, despite all the stress, to filter what's important [...] If you

have ego and a big barrier that's up it's very hard for you to filter that because everything becomes unknown, and it makes people uncomfortable to speak up. It creates a psychologically unsafe situation and also puts you in a vulnerable position because you pretend you know something, and you don't know."

3.1.3 Theme 1C: Experience with Performing Procedures is not a Driving Force in Developing Expertise but can be Helpful in Skill Development

Experience related to skill development was mentioned the least by participants.

Experience (case exposure) was considered important because it allows for a certain level of automaticity when performing procedures, which allows the expert to focus on other skills such as adaptability and habit building. Moreover, participants shared that experience allows them to have more breadth of knowledge due to being exposed to more procedures and cases. The main reason that experience was not deemed of the utmost importance was because even if a physician has many years of experience, that does not automatically make them an expert; the skills required to be an expert proceduralist does not equal the number of years in practice.

"I think something about procedural expertise [is that] [...] being senior doesn't automatically mean that you are the most expert on the task. So even if you have years of exposure and years of doing said procedure, there are some people who are experts and some who can do it but are not experts."

3.2 Theme 2: The Generalization of Procedural Expertise is Dependent on the Skills, Specialty, and Contextual and Patient Factors

Almost all participants agreed that the skills required for procedural expertise could be generalized across the three procedural categories: high stakes versus low stakes

procedures, easy versus difficult procedures, and common versus rare procedures.

Participants shared that skills and tasks such as preparation, knowledge, obtaining consent, decision making, communication, and documentation were common factors of all procedures while skills such as situational awareness, troubleshooting, and identification of personal limitation were still deemed important but weighed differently depending on the procedure.

"I think the general principles are really what we talked about in terms of that communication, preparation and the preparation applying to location, equipment and personnel, the information gathering that you need to have with the indications and contraindications and the reason why you are doing the procedure in that situation."

For example, in a low-stakes procedure, such as a lumbar puncture, if an expert has already attempted the procedure a couple of times without success, then they may choose to try again later, as the expert needs to consider the patient's tolerance for the procedure, and the lack of urgency for the procedure. In contrast, if an expert is performing an intubation, they know it is a high-stakes procedure, it needs to be performed, and they may need to call for help in the case of failed attempts. Another example includes the greater focus on planning and communication in high-stakes and rare procedures as these procedures are urgent and can be infrequent, thus more emphasis is placed in the preparation phase. However, in low-stakes procedures there is less emphasis in planning and communication as the healthcare team encounters these

procedures often enough to understand the shared mental model. Additional factors such as specialty and contextual and patient factors are also taken into consideration in the generalization of procedural expertise.

"For the Royal College of Emergency Medicine exam [...] each station will almost always have a procedure built in and what we tell our residents is you should have the same approach for every procedure. I would don my PPE, I would prepare the necessary equipment, I would landmark the site, I would prep and then drape, then I would do the task, [...] and then I would do my confirmatory testing. Like that is what we drill into them. So those basic principles of sort of pre-and post-like that is absolutely [similar], but I would not want to lose sight of in that generality is the importance of patient factors and context factors. How you approach this when you are working in Timmins, Ontario is going to be very different to how you approach it when you are working in Hamilton General or McMaster Children's or Sick Kids or Toronto General. Like those context- and patient-specific factors are just so important when you are thinking about how you apply your technical expertise."

Specialties operate in different ways, so the importance of procedural skills can be weighed differently. For example, in pediatric gastroenterology, caregivers cannot be in the procedural room; thus, there is less emphasis on communicating with the family during the procedure compared to other specialties, such as pediatric emergency care, where caregivers are usually in the room, so communication is weighed with more

importance. Also, throughout the interviews, some participants had a difficult time with categorizing procedures, as they believed that patient and contextual elements play a key role in determining the procedural category.

"That is actually what makes procedures more challenging. It is not the steps to doing the skill, it is what is happening with the patient because every patient is different. Usually, it is like a patient-related thing that is making the procedure difficult, it is not because the procedure itself is technically difficult to do, it is that there is something wrong with the patient that is making it hard."

3.3 Theme 3: Approaching Expected/Unexpected Events in Procedures and Deciding on Adaptations is a Crucial Part of Expertise

All participants believed that an important aspect of being an expert is adaptability in the case of unexpected or expected events such as complications. Ideally, an expert would have anticipated any complications in the preparation phase of the procedure and communicated them with the team, but this is not always the case. Participants shared that the expert needs to have situational awareness and grasp the context quickly so that they can inform the team of the change of procedural plan. In order to decide the next steps, the expert must consider the patient holistically (e.g., patient history, patient characteristics, impact of procedure on daily living). In high-stakes and difficult procedures, the expert and team will discuss the backup plan(s); therefore, in these procedures, they are prepared to adapt based on the plan they have created. A couple of participants also mentioned that they follow relevant guidelines or protocols that may be available. Essentially, in approaching unexpected or expected events, participants

mentioned having the choice of additional attempts through trying different approaches, calling for help, or abandoning the procedure. As mentioned before, with each additional attempt in a procedure, there needs to be a change made. The change can be small such as changing equipment, or the change can be large, such as changing personnel.

Furthermore, participants stated they may decide to ask for help from other experts. In high-stakes, difficult, and rare procedures, the other experts may already be in the room, as these procedures are urgent and thus the procedure can quickly be passed on to the other expert or can be completed in collaboration. Lastly, abandoning the procedure is usually only an option if the procedure is not lifesaving (i.e., low-stakes procedures). In abandoning the procedure, the expert can reassess the patient and context before deciding on the next steps.

"[During a procedure], let's say this line is not going in, then what other lines should [the physician] put in? How to position the baby? Maybe try to do this, try to do that, I would expect that. And if they know when to stop. I think something of a non-expert would be I am going to try again [...] But an expert would be it is futile to try again, I am going to give this a break, and we are going to look at other options. There is also some experts that are maybe junior who think they can do it still [...] They are the ones who are like let it go, I know I am not going to be able [to] because sometimes it is just you are not able to do it."

3.4 Theme 4: Pediatric Training Programs Use a Variety of Approaches in Procedural Training

Participants shared that there are a multitude of methods in which trainees are trained for procedural skills. Most participants explained that simulation plays an important role in developing skills for procedures, as learning outcomes in simulation can help trainees focus on individual skills (e.g., technical skills) or multiple skills simultaneously (e.g., collaboration, situational awareness). Participants stated other techniques such as deliberate training and debriefing are also used in simulation for training procedural skills. Using deliberate practice for developing procedural skills was highly encouraged by some participants, as they shared that there are fewer opportunities to practice skills after training is complete. Moreover, some participants mentioned that a couple of times a year, there are procedure simulation days dedicated for specific procedural skills or categories. For example, some procedural skill days may focus on common procedures while others focus on rare procedures. Lastly, most participants expressed that giving trainees the opportunity to observe and perform procedures in the clinical setting with direct and indirect supervision allows development of procedural skills. Direct and indirect supervision of trainees depended on the specialty, procedural category, and comfort of the expert and trainee. Some specialties (i.e., pediatric gastroenterology) require the expert to be directly supervising the trainee at all times during the procedure, so the expert can easily intervene if needed. Additionally, participants stated in high-stakes and difficult cases, the expert is usually directly supervising the trainee. It is uncommon to allow a trainee to perform a rare procedure as they may not have the skills to perform it. Lastly, the expert and trainee comfort can help

determine if direct or indirect supervision is needed. If both the expert and trainee are comfortable with the trainee performing the procedure, then the expert may opt for indirect supervision. However, if there is a lack of comfort in performance or the trainee would like feedback on their performance, then direct supervision is usually needed.

"If something does go wrong or the student or the learner struggles a little bit, then we may need to take over, and then we will explain what we are doing as we are doing it. Then, give them another opportunity to try on the next suture for example."

"Most residents, when it is an unfamiliar situation, they will be like 'oh, I think I could do it because I've read about it, and I am ready to go, but I would appreciate the observation or like the help,' and that is usually a sign that they are not overly comfortable"

3.4.1 Theme 4A: Lack of Consensus Regarding Procedural Skills that Trainees Struggle With

Although there was no consensus, overall, participants stated that trainees struggle with non-technical skills (e.g., communication, situational awareness, sequence of events), as trainees usually direct their attention entirely on the technical aspect of the procedure. Non-technical skills are also difficult to teach due to lack of focus on non-technical skills and challenges in assessing non-technical skills, so trainees usually have to learn through observation. Participants mentioned one potential reason for the lack of consensus is that trainees come from diverse backgrounds where some trainees may have more experience in procedures while others may not. For example, some participants

mentioned that international trainees often have developed some procedural skills, as they have more procedural experience. Other times, trainees may use skills they learned in their past rotations and apply the skills to their current rotations.

"Well everybody struggles at certain times with every procedure, whether you're junior, senior, and expert. [...] For example, we have trainees who come from Pediatrics, and we have trainees come from Anesthesia. So, if they come from Pediatrics, they will struggle with intubations, arterial lines, central lines, but Anesthesia trainees do not because they do those so much more commonly in their base training."

3.5 Theme 5: Decrease in Procedural Opportunities for Experts Lead to Skill Decay

A common concern among participants was the lack of opportunities to perform procedures, especially for experts in academic centers, as trainees need to perform procedures to develop competence. Also, each trainee needs to complete their EPA assessments, so when there is an opportunity to complete a procedure, it is usually offered to a trainee. Participants stated that a major consequence of the limited procedure exposure is the procedural skill decay among experts. Experts are usually directly or indirectly supervising trainees in procedures and even in direct supervision, the expert is not leading the procedure. Some participants have mentioned maintaining their procedural skills through simulation; however, experts rarely have the time for simulation and participants expressed a lack of professional development opportunities.

"So, the challenge once people become faculty is that unless they are doing a skill frequently, their skills decay. So, we identify either through needs assessments or through critical incidents or other events the skills that are infrequent and require training."

A small number of participants were also concerned that for trainees and opportunities for developing procedural skills is also decreasing due to specialties exploring less invasive methods of care. For example, in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit, instead of performing intubations, physicians perform Minimally Invasive Surfactant Therapy (MIST). Although less invasive procedures may be beneficial for patients, it makes developing procedural expertise difficult.

"[With] chest tubes, we are trying to find the gentlest way to ventilate so we have less pneumothoraces, but that means doing less chest tubes. So, we are trying [...] to put in lines less. We are trying to minimize the procedures for the sake of the babies but that means less [procedure] opportunities for that [is] the biggest problem that we have."

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

4.1 Overview of Results

This study explored the core principles that guide procedural expertise in performing medical procedures in pediatrics. We conducted semi-structured interviews with faculty from procedural heavy specialties, including pediatric emergency care, pediatric gastroenterology, pediatric critical care, and neonatology. We identified five themes from the data: (1) Procedural Expertise Requires Skills that Go Beyond Psychomotor Skills, and Relies Heavily on Non-Technical Skills, (2) The Generalization of Procedural Expertise is Dependent on the Skills, Specialty, and Contextual and Patient Factors, (3) Approaching Expected/Unexpected Events in Procedures and Deciding on Adaptations is a Crucial Part of Expertise, (4) Pediatric Training Programs Use a Variety of Approaches in Procedural Training, and (5) Decrease in Procedural Opportunities for Experts Lead to Skill Decay.

In medicine, the literature groups non-technical skills into three categories: cognitive skills, social skills, and personal resource skills. 71,72 In the present study, we found that some of the skills across these categories can overlap one another; for example, problem solving and situational awareness worked interconnectedly where experts needed to grasp the context of the situation quickly and then use problem-solving techniques to decide on a solution. Personal resource skills could also encompass cognitive skills, as emotion management requires experts to use cognitive processes to be aware of their personal limitations. In the next sections, we will begin by further exploring non-technical skill domains, followed by understanding current assessment practices and their strengths and weaknesses, and comparison of our findings to the

Madani et al.⁶⁸ framework and what makes pediatric procedural expertise unique compared to other procedural expertise.

4.2 Cognitive Skills – Decision Making and Situational Awareness

Clinical decision making is a core competency in medical education that requires physicians to constantly have situational awareness to engage in cognitive processing with the cues from the environment. 73 As we heard from participants, in the preparation phase, the expert will take relevant information about the patient (e.g., indication, contraindication, patient history) and make decision to set up for the procedure – gather equipment, personnel, and set up the procedural environment. 74,75 Then, more deliberate cognitive processes will be used to understand the context of the situation, the necessity of the procedure, interpret the information that is given, and start anticipating any expected/unexpected events that may occur. 74,75 During medical procedures, the environment is constantly changing with different cues competing for the attention of the physician; thus, effective and efficient decision-making is a skill needed in procedural expertise. 73 Additionally, situational awareness, taking cues from the environment (e.g., department, patients, personal needs), analyzing the cues, and anticipating changes in the current situation, is also considered in making decisions. 74 In the current study. participants described situational awareness as needing to focus on personal limitations, the workflow of the department, and individual patient needs. It is also crucial to be aware of team members and their role in patient care in order to delegate tasks and understand scheduling of the team (e.g. who is available and at what time).⁷⁴ In dynamic departments such as the Intensive Care Unit or the Emergency Department, it is even

more important to be aware of the updates within the department as patients are consistently entering and leaving the unit;⁷⁴ similar comments were heard from pediatric emergency physicians and pediatric critical care physicians from the current study.

Clinical decision making is researched in a variety of different ways, one common area being subconscious and conscious decision making.⁷² Subconscious decision making occurs when a physician can map out the plan, steps, and expectations of the procedure and perform without using deliberate cognitive efforts to focus on each step of the procedure.⁷² Conscious decision making usually occurs during transforming situations that forces the physician to navigate and anticipate the unforeseen change and adapt to accomplish overarching goals. 75 Participants in the current study shared the subconscious performance of technical skills that can occur in low-stakes, easy, and common procedures as these procedures are performed frequently enough to map out the procedural process. The intake of similar information from past clinical encounters allows the decision making in these cases to be quicker and more efficient compared to other scenarios.⁷⁵ On the other hand, rare procedures require more deliberate use of skills, such as situational awareness or decision making, as these procedures require more conscious effort of the use of both technical and non-technical skills. Experience with procedures and high case logs can also support more subconscious decision making, as experienced physicians can have more pattern recognition with a greater breadth of procedures compared to a novice. 72 Overall, clinical cases may be common or rare so an expert can use both subconscious and conscious processes to make decisions, where both processes can be used chronologically (e.g., with subconscious being used first) or alternately (e.g.,

subconscious and conscious both being used based on the situation), depending on factors such as pattern recognition and conscious and subconscious efforts being used.⁷⁵

4.3 Social Skills – Communication Skills

Communication skills are a fundamental aspect of procedural performance. In the present study, participants described various ways in which they communicate, and all experts shared positive experiences with communicating with the healthcare team; however, it is important to highlight the barriers to communication in medical settings. There can be many barriers in communication amongst the team, such as isolated training programs among interdisciplinary teams, diversity in communication styles and problemsolving techniques, and differences within healthcare settings and healthcare teams.⁷⁴ These barriers to communication can impact patient care, as team members may refrain from sharing patient information with one another, the team may feel less comfortable sharing ideas and discussing the treatment plan or backup plans, and there may be power imbalances.⁷⁴ Ultimately, lack of communication skills can prevent the healthcare team from having a shared mental model of the treatment plan, which can harm the patient.^{74,76} As mentioned in the present study, communication in the preparation phase to create a shared mental model of the procedural plan is key so all professionals can understand their role. Communication is especially important in high-stakes procedures such as intubation where the proceduralist and leader of the room need to be in constant communication with one another in order to describe the next step of the procedure, read the monitor, and to ensure procedure success. Some studies have cited that poor communication during intubation can be one of the top reasons for bad outcomes in

intubation and injury caused to the patient.^{74,77} In these high-stakes procedures, closed-loop communication is important to ensure deliberate communication between the expert and the team.⁷⁴

4.4 Personal Resource Skills – Emotion Management

Medical settings can be stressful environments where emotions run high for both healthcare professionals and patients. ⁷⁶ In the literature, emotion management and situational awareness, specifically self-awareness, were coupled together. ^{74,76} With self-awareness, experts can understand their own emotions and feelings, they can understand how their colleagues and patients perceive them, and they can understand how to integrate into the healthcare setting. ⁷⁶ Self-awareness is especially important among healthcare professionals due to the high demands on the workforce including long hours, high-pressure environments, higher risk of burnout, professional or personal distractions, task overload, stress, and cognitive overload, which can all impact decision-making abilities as well. ^{75,76}

Personal resource skills, or self-awareness, begins at the preparation phase during the procedural pause where the team can discuss the case and form a shared mental model which leaves little room for assumptions or ambiguity in the procedural plan.⁷⁴ Collaboration is especially important in personal resource skills as using the team's cognitive capacity together rather than focusing on individual capacity allows for better situational awareness, management of crisis, improves the work environment, and allows for increased focus on monitoring the patient.⁷⁴ Furthermore, in medical procedures, especially in pediatric settings, there are additional factors that need to be considered such

as patient tolerance of procedure, caregiver questions and concerns, and a lack of a controlled environment as these procedures are usually performed outside of the operating room. Without proper management of personal resource factors, technical and non-technical skills can be impacted.⁷²⁷² For example, in the current study, many experts shared that if the emotions of the caregivers are not controlled during the procedure, it can be difficult for the expert to focus on performing the procedure. Overall, the benefit of self-awareness allows healthcare professionals to have better confidence, decision-making skills, and stress management—all essential aspects of expertise within medicine.⁷⁶

4.5 Assessing Non-Technical Skills in Didactive and Simulation Environments

Although technical skills have been the primary focus of training and assessment, non-technical skills training and assessment is gaining momentum, and have primarily been taught in the classroom and in simulation centers in medical education. In the classroom, non-technical skills are taught through didactic methods in workshops, elearning modules, and video-based learning of effective and ineffective portrayal of non-technical skills. One example of didactic teaching of non-technical skills is from Flin et al., where researchers created a non-technical skills course to inform surgeons about the importance of these skills for clinical outcomes. Surgeons watched videos of surgeries and rated the physician's non-technical skills using the Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons (NOTSS) and engaged in didactic learning methods to learn more about non-technical skills. Surgeons agreed that non-technical skills assessment allowed them to consider how non-technical skills, such as cognitive and interpersonal skills, were crucial for

patient safety, and most surgeons began focusing more on skills such as communication, decision-making, and situational awareness.⁷⁸

In a similar study by Dedy et al.,⁷⁹ researchers performed a randomized control trial with junior trainees who were assessed on their non-technical skills with and without formal teaching of these skills. For the intervention group, participants received didactic teaching on non-technical skills such as situational awareness, decision-making strategies, leadership styles, and crisis management, and participants practiced these skills in the OR or simulation center.⁷⁹ Through assessments using the NOTSS and Objective Structured Assessment of Non-Technical Skills (OSANTS), the study found that the intervention group had significant improvement between its baseline and post-training, while the control group showed no significant improvements.⁷⁹ Additionally, in the post-training scores, the intervention group had higher scores than the control group; however, these scores were not significant.⁷⁹

In another study conducted by Brunckhorst et al., ⁸⁰ researchers explored the link between technical (assessed using the Rigid-Ureteroscopy Assessment Sheet) and non-technical (assessed using NOTSS) skills performance in ureteroscopy in the simulation setting. Participants underwent formal learning with a technical and non-technical skill curriculum of simulation-based ureteroscopy while the other half learned using basic didactic methods. ⁸⁰ Overall, the results showed that the curriculum is educationally valuable at improving technical and non-technical skills, which could signify the

relationship and interplay between technical and non-technical skills for improved procedural performance.⁸⁰

Overall, both technical and non-technical skills play an important role in procedural performance. However, majority of the current focus of procedural training and assessment is on technical skills, using assessment tools such as the Objective Structured Assessment of Technical Skill (OSATS) and the Direct Observation of Procedural Skills (DOPS). However, as uncovered in the present study, there are multiple skill domains that go beyond the technical aspects of procedural performance that assessments should focus on to create a holistic understanding of procedural performance, centered around both technical and non-technical skill domains. A holistic assessment should encompass multiple assessments that span the technical and non-technical skill domains, to target all of the skills important for procedural performance. By integrating technical and non-technical skills within procedural performance training and assessment, educators can ensure that our future pediatricians embody the skills needed for not only competence, but also procedural expertise and are equipped with these skills once they are practicing physicians.

4.6 The Core Principles that Define Procedural Expertise and its Comparison to Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework

This study used Madani et al.'s⁶⁸ "What Are the Principles That Guide Behaviors in the Operating Room? Creating a Framework to Define and Measure Performance" to outline potential core principles that guide expert performance of medical procedures outside of the OR. When we compared our findings to the Domains of Intraoperative

Performance,⁶⁸ we found that the core principles of expert performance in medical procedures outside of the operating room were similar. Madani et al. 68 sought to capture intraoperative expertise by interviewing surgeons from multiple specialties regarding the procedures they routinely perform, the cognitive processes that are needed to perform these procedures, as well as describe their cognitive processes during procedural performance through video analysis of performance of the participants.⁶⁸ Five themes were identified that reflect expert intraoperative performance: psychomotor skills, declarative knowledge, interpersonal skills, personal resourcefulness, and advanced cognitive skills. 68 First, the Domains of Intraoperative Performance reflect psychomotor skills as being a crucial step in the performance phase of the procedure where most focus is on the technical aspects of performance.⁶⁸ Similarly, in the current study, psychomotor skills were identified to be an important aspect of the technical skills of procedural performance, highlighting skills such as hand-eye coordination and moving hands in synergy as being needed during the procedure. Additionally, declarative knowledge was highlighted by the Madani et al.⁶⁸ framework as part of expertise in intraoperative performance. Similar to Madani et al.,68 we highlighted different types of knowledge that are crucial to being an expert in medical procedures. Namely, experts need to apply the knowledge they learned in the classroom (e.g., anatomy and physiology) to procedures, but they also need to be knowledgeable about the indications, contraindications, procedure optimization, the steps of the procedure, the equipment, troubleshooting, and complications. Madani et al.⁶⁸ also mention knowledge of literature and evidence-based

practices;⁶⁸ however, only a small number of participants in the present study mentioned this type of knowledge being a priority.

Next, the Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework divides interpersonal skills into two sections: teamwork and leadership.⁶⁸ In the present study, participants shared the importance of working in small and large teams depending on the procedural category. For example, in a low-stakes procedure, there may not be as many healthcare professionals involved in care as in a high-stakes procedure. Participants also shared the importance of having an effective team that can rely on each other on multiple levels. Participants expressed that they rely on their team during the procedural pause to generate ideas and discuss the procedure plan. During the procedure, the expert relies on the team to remind them of certain steps of the procedure that they are likely to miss, and in post-procedural tasks, the expert relies on the team to help ensure procedure success through testing and monitoring the patient. Also, experts rely on the healthcare team for emotional support, reducing cognitive load, and for feedback to improve performance. Moreover, leadership in the intraoperative framework describes the importance of productivity with resource management. ⁶⁸ Similarly, in the current study, experts shared that when approaching expected and unexpected events, there can be a few approaches an expert can take such as additional attempts at the procedure, abandoning the procedure, or asking for help from other experts or specialties. Similar to the framework, we had experts share that during these times of high stress or complication, there is not time to debate the next steps and the expert needs to take lead and direct the team to the next step and then discussion can happen after the procedure.

Furthermore, the framework identified personal resourcefulness as a crucial aspect of intraoperative performance.⁶⁸ Personal resourcefulness encompassed physical (e.g., fatigue) psychological (e.g., confidence, fear of making errors, motivation, ego), and social factors (e.g., reputation, time pressure, personal and professional distractions) that could impact performance.⁶⁸ In the present study, we only had some experts identify selfawareness as an important aspect of procedural expertise and the conversations would usually revolve around physical or physiological factors such as fatigue, stress, skillbased restraints, and emotion management. Experts shared the importance of being confident and calm during the procedure to help manage the emotions of the family and team. Also, experts shared that there can be some psychological factors such as high or low confidence and high ego amongst trainees that can impact their performance. Participants in the current study did not share any social factors that would influence their performance; however, we did have one participant share the negative consequences of working with a team that is overly critical or judgmental which can create a toxic environment and impact patient care.

The last theme identified by the Domains of Intraoperative Performance

Framework was advanced cognitive skills, which highlighted 21 subthemes. 68 Some of
the subthemes encompassed the technical aspects specific to surgery; therefore, in this
section we will group together some of these subthemes to allow for a more simplified
analysis. First, Madani et al. 68 summarized the key takeaways of surgical planning and
error prevention, which we divided into pre-operative, performance, and post-operative
phases for a more simplified comparison. In the pre-operative phases, the framework

identifies the importance of assessing the patient physically, patient tolerance for the procedure, the surgical field to ensure appropriate clinical management of the patient, and collaboration with other experts.⁶⁸ Additionally, the expert will collaborate with the patient and substitute decision-makers for care. ⁶⁸ In the current study, experts took a similar approach; however, there was a greater emphasis on preparing for the procedures such as gathering equipment and personnel before assessing the patient. Furthermore, because surgery can be higher-stakes than medical procedures, there was more focus on risk assessment and management in the preparation phase of the Intraoperative Performance Framework compared to our findings. 68 Similar to our findings, during the performance phases, the expert is constantly using strategies for procedure optimization such as positioning the patient, ensure proper lighting, and appropriate force needed when utilizing equipment. Also, the expert shows awareness of the risks of repeat attempts at a task and therefore tries something new with each additional attempt. In the postprocedure phase, similar to our findings, expert surgeons also focus on testing and monitoring for the confirmation of procedure success and focus on infection control.⁶⁸ Lastly, in approaching unexpected events, the framework highlights similar steps to address these situations where the experts needs to identify the problem, develop a plan to solve the issue, and discuss the backup plans with the team.⁶⁸

There were a couple skills that we identified in the current study that were not highlighted in the Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework. First, communication with the healthcare team and caregivers was not a main focus in the framework. There were some mentions of communication with the team; however, the

participants of the current study identified communication as being weighed highly compared to other skills as it is needed in all procedures, regardless of the procedural category. Experts shared that communication is needed at every phase of the procedure emphasizing the procedural pause in the preparation phase to discuss the procedure plan and create a shared mental model of the procedure, during the procedure to identify the next steps, and in the post-procedure phases for monitoring and testing efforts. Communication with caregivers was also deemed important by experts as caregivers will usually be supporting patients in pediatrics and giving consent for the procedures. In the Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework, there were greater efforts in discussing the goals and care plan of patients with the substitute decision-maker, ⁶⁸ compared to the present study where experts mainly discussed communication with caregivers to obtain consent, communicate during the procedure if caregivers are in the room, or in the post-procedure phases to update the caregivers. Communication, especially in pediatric care, is a core competency involving the delivery of information and asking and answering questions.⁸¹ Caregivers and clinicians both have communication and decision-making roles within pediatric care.⁸¹ Caregivers are a unique aspect of pediatric care where they are usually the communicators and decision makers for pediatric patients.⁸¹ Caregivers communicate regarding the patient's medical history and symptomatology, and they make decisions regarding the patient's care plans and healthcare needs.⁸¹ Clinicians have similar responsibilities where they are communicating treatment plans and services to patients and caregivers, allowing them to make informed decisions.81

Lastly, experience with medical procedures was a minor point of discussion amongst our participants that The Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework briefly addressed.⁶⁸ The framework identifies the need for in-depth knowledge and experience for some skills, such as tacit knowledge, to create a mental model for some clinical cases to support procedure performance and reduce cognitive load.⁶⁸ Additionally, a small number of participants in the present study mentioned the importance of experience in procedures to allow for greater focus on skills such as adaptability, as experience helps support pattern recognition in procedures and can allow conscious efforts to develop advanced skillsets.

To create a more holistic understanding of procedural expertise in pediatrics, The Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework should be modified based on our findings, so that the framework provides a guide for domains of pediatric procedural performance. Specifically, the main modification should include a focus on communication skills with the healthcare team and caregivers before, during, and after a procedure. The addition of communication skills under these circumstances will allow the framework to be applicable to procedural expertise in various pediatric contexts.

Furthermore, although not a skill, experience in medical procedures can be added to the framework as a point of the conceptualization of expertise as more experience within a subject matter can help the continuous building of expertise through greater pattern recognition and greater automaticity of various skills.

4.7 Implications

The findings of this thesis suggest that procedural expertise requires both technical and non-technical skills with great emphasis on non-technical skills. The nontechnical skills that we identified from our findings were knowledge, communication, decision-making, problem-solving, situational awareness, and emotion management. Incorporating teaching and assessment of these non-technical skills within the already existing medical education curricula that tends to focus on technical skills can support learners in developing procedural skills and allow learners to develop a more holistic understanding of medical procedures. We suggest that these skills be implemented within early training, through a layered approach, so that junior trainees could focus their procedural training on technical skills, especially psychomotor, and non-technical skills in less nuanced contexts (e.g., receiving consent from the patient/family for low stakes or common procedures, communicating with team members during the procedure when the procedure is moving forward as planned). With level appropriate learning and assessment objectives, these can be mostly done in simulation contexts using mannequins, tasktrainers, virtual simulations, or having standardized patients, but junior trainees should continue to have clinical exposure. Then, as junior trainees progress through their training and take on senior roles (i.e. senior resident, fellow), their procedural training could continue to include technical skills (e.g., psychomotor, simple decision-making such as choosing the equipment), but have a major focus on non-technical skills in more nuanced contexts (e.g., developing and sharing a procedural mental model, decision-making regarding next steps when there is a complication, communicating with the patient,

family, and team when there is complication during the procedure, managing time, managing their emotions and their team's emotions). These can also be done in simulation contexts including in-situ simulations and interprofessional team training, in addition to clinical exposure. Furthermore, within the current assessment approaches such as through EPA assessments, we suggest that the non-technical skills highlighted in this thesis be mapped onto current procedural EPAs and associated assessments, to ensure integration of non-technical skills with technical skills. With a more holistic approach to assessment, educators can ensure that learners understand the role and importance of nontechnical skills for procedural performance, and that it is as important as technical skills for procedural success. For example, in 'Pediatrics: Core EPA #1 Resuscitating and stabilizing neonates following delivery', the milestones do not mention communication with health professionals or with caregivers however, based on the interviews, the importance of communication skills, especially in high stakes procedures such as resuscitation, was very clearly highlighted by participants. Additionally, even with the currently used EPA assessment forms, there can be further emphasis on the non-technical skills that we have identified that are not a part of the form. Furthermore, as mentioned before, the literature that has explored integrating non-technical skills within medical education assessment mostly used tools such as DOPS, OSANTS, and OSATS, even though these assessments are not commonly implemented as a part of learner assessment. Therefore, although these tools maybe helpful in assessment, we would recommend integration of technical and non-technical skills as a part of EPA assessment forms, which are currently implemented for learner assessment. Lastly, debriefing and feedback as a

part of simulation or clinical assessment will be important with non-technical skills acquisition, as specific feedback given in a timely manner can help learners understand how improvement of non-technical skills is a part of the bigger picture of procedural performance. Debriefing can also be especially important for skills such as emotion management, a non-technical skill that can be difficult to teach and assess as it may not be outwardly visible to others; however, by discussing emotions especially in high stress situations, it can help learners understand how to manage emotions and its role in procedural success.

Within teaching practices, we suggest the incorporation of non-technical skills during procedural performance in both the simulation and clinical settings. In the simulation setting, oftentimes, some of the non-technical skills can be skipped because the focus is solely on technical performance, which is seen as foundational compared to non-technical skills. For example, before starting a simulation for an IO placement, the learner may mention that they spoke to the family, obtained consent, and are ready to begin the procedure, but simply stating the necessary pre-procedural non-technical skills may not be enough to develop expertise. Instead, we suggest that simulation training includes scenarios that would help learners practice those non-technical skills. Referring back to the IO example, having simulated patients in the room acting as a distressed caregiver could help learners be situationally aware of the patient and caregiver needs, while also needing to focus on technical aspects of performing the procedure and communication with the caregivers and the healthcare team. Additionally, one of the benefits of simulation is that learners and educators can stop and discuss during the

simulation to support learning. Thus, pausing the simulation and discussing skills such as situational awareness, knowledge, and decision-making can help learners develop these skills. For example, in a resuscitation simulation, the educator can pause the simulation from time to time to assess the learner's knowledge and decision-making for the next steps of the procedure, or the educator can add more complex factors to help teach situational awareness. In the clinical setting, similar steps can be taken to teach nontechnical skills; however, these opportunities may be more spontaneous and unpredictable depending on the clinical context and patient. As mentioned before, not all procedural cases will require the same skills with the same weighted importance (e.g. some procedures may require more situational awareness than others). Thus, the clinical setting can provide learners the opportunity to build on what they have learnt in the simulation setting, and train on technical and non-technical skills according to the demands of the clinical setting. Lastly, a key aspect of learning the technical aspects of procedural skills is observation of experts performing procedures, and we suggest a similar outlook on non-technical skills. By having learners observe clinicians perform non-technical skills such as communication, decision-making, and problem-solving, it will allow them to understand the interplay between technical and non-technical skills and help them apply these skills to their own performances. For example, a learner may observe that a clinician chooses to use drawings when they are explaining procedures to the caregivers, in turn, a learner may also choose to do the same.

4.8 Limitations

A potential limitation of this study is selection bias. We recruited any pediatrician, who is currently accredited with the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada, who performs procedures as a part of their clinical practice in pediatric emergency medicine, pediatric gastroenterology, neonatology, and pediatric critical care. We decided to follow this recruitment strategy as we believe that there are no criteria for procedural expertise that we could identify in the literature. Currently, some of the 'subjective' markers of procedural expertise include number of procedures performed and years in practice. However, as current literature suggests, such as Ericsson's work, 64,66 completing a task repeatedly does not automatically transfer to improvement or expertise. Instead, it can actually plateau development where no more improvements occur. Therefore, without having a clear criteria of an expert, we might have recruited physicians who may not be experts in pediatric procedures, which could have impacted our findings. Some may argue that there are current frameworks of expertise such as CANMEDS, 4,82 which encompasses both technical and non-technical aspects of a medical expert. However, it may not have been feasible for us to use the CANMEDS medical expert role as a selection criteria for expertise, as technically, all practicing physicians would embody the core role of a 'Medical Expert' once training is complete. Nonetheless, we certainly reviewed the CANMEDS framework as a part of our background literature search and to support our data collection. Furthermore, although we chose to recruit participants from procedural-heavy specialties, the transferability of our findings should still be considered in other contexts, as even within the specialties we included, there

were differences in the importance of specific skills. Additionally, there are other non-procedure heavy specialties within pediatrics that we did not include in the study who are expected to perform a small number of procedures in their clinical practice. Pediatricians in those specialties could have had different understandings of procedural expertise. Also, contextual factors such as population (e.g., age group), 83 settings (e.g. small or large hospitals, rural regions), 83 advancements within medicine (e.g. moving to minimally invasive procedures), and institutional policies (e.g., institutes having guidelines regarding the number of attempts for a specific procedure before paging another specialty) should be considered in the transferability of our findings.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION

The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons have identified certain EPAs related to procedural skills that residents are expected to develop competency. Our current understanding of procedural skills depends heavily on technical skills, such as the psychomotor aspects of performance, creating a limited understanding of expertise in procedural skills. Without a full understanding of the domains of procedural expertise, teaching and assessing these skills may be inadequate for safe and effective patient care. In this thesis, we aimed to understand the core principles that guide expert performance during pediatric procedures, going beyond technical skill domains. We conducted a qualitative description study, guided by a constructivist perspective. For our methods, we conducted semi-structured interviews with faculty members from Departments of Pediatrics across Canada.

Our findings showed that there are non-technical skills required in procedural expertise that capture all phases of the procedure (e.g., preparation, performance, and post-performance) and these skills are especially important in navigating expected or unexpected events during procedures, such as complications. Specifically, we found that decision-making skills and situational awareness were key in procedural expertise as these skills were needed in all procedures but at different degrees depending on the procedural category.

Madani et al.⁶⁸ have worked to define the core principles that guide the intraoperative behaviours and decisions of expert surgeons and created a universal framework highlighting these skills. In this thesis, we found that the skills needed for

procedural expertise outside of the operating room are similar to those of expert surgeons. Specifically, this thesis and Domains of Intraoperative Performance Framework uncover that skills such as psychomotor skills, knowledge, and situational awareness are all important aspects of expert performance. However, we found that with expert performance in medical procedures in pediatrics, there was more emphasis on communication with the healthcare team and caregivers. It is important to note that pediatrics is uniquely positioned where caregivers are heavily involved with the care of patients and thus there is an extra layer of communication and decision making that occurs in these settings, which can point to why communication was weighed with more importance in our findings.

In conclusion, procedural performance is an important aspect of pediatric care, and trainees are expected to be competent in procedural skills to perform safely and independently. The findings of this thesis outline that procedural performance goes beyond technical skills, with great emphasis on non-technical skillsets. These findings can inform teaching and assessment efforts encompassing both technical and non-technical aspects of performance to help develop competency in procedural skills.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1: Theme overview, definition, and examples.

Theme	Definition and Examples
Procedural Expertise Requires Skills that Go Beyond Psychomotor Skills, and Relies Heavily on Non-Technical Skills	Definition: This theme explores the different skills that are required to perform procedures at an expert level. These include technical skills (e.g., psychomotor skills) and nontechnical skills (e.g., decision-making). Namely, the skills that were discussed the most by participants were knowledge, situational awareness, problem solving, communication, emotion management, and clinical experience.
	Examples: • "There is going to be a level of handeye coordination that you are going to need for all of them. You are going to need to know how to do your landmarking." P5
	 "The decision-making sometimes doesn't come just with reading books, it comes with a lot of experience and having seen a lot of cases." P2 "The communication in the room is
	hugely important. I mean, anything that's an intervention, the nurse needs to be communicating and closed loop communication back and forth for the proceduralist." P14
The Generalization of Procedural Expertise is Dependent on the Skills, Specialty, and Contextual and Patient Factors	Definition: This theme explores the generalizability of the skills required to perform a procedure at an expert level

	independent of the procedural category. <i>Examples:</i>
	• "I think general principles need to apply for all procedures [] I think that at the beginning, like my kind of approach through procedures, I think like that's the type of approach that people need to maintain throughout all procedures." P18
	• "I do believe that there are general principles with specific points that need to be mentioned more strongly or less strongly for each category, but I do believe that the more you train your mind to think the same way, the [less] complications and unexpected things will happen." P2
Approaching Expected/Unexpected Events in	Definition: This theme uncovers the variety of
Procedures and Deciding on Adaptations is a Crucial Part of Expertise	ways in which experts adapt during expected or unexpected events in a procedure, and the skills needed to make these decisions.
	Examples:
	• "If we are unable to complete the procedures in a high-stakes event then we will stop partway through. You know sort of reset and reassess the patient and try and figure out what it was that was causing the difficulty. You know try to change the environment or the context or the situation or the patient position or something to you know increase our chances of success. Try again with a

	slightly different approach for
	different acquittance." P7
	 "Yeah, so intubation we do have a
	backup plan. So, for example we have
	backup, we have a smaller tube if it
	doesn't fit or a second more
	experienced [intubator] if you have
	[failed] your two attempts. Or if you
	can't see you have suction, we have
	the video laryngoscope if that helps.
	So, we have those things in place, but
	you can get to the end of your backup solutions and then you are working on
	the fly." P10
	• "So [] I think the biggest thing in
	expertise, this might sound funny is
	when to not proceed. You know, people who don't have the experience
	will keep trying and then, you know,
	cause complications. The experts
	actually know when to stop. They
	know when to, you know, change the
	scope, change the patient position, do
	something differently to prevent
	complications." P14
Pediatric Training Programs Use a Variety of	Definition: This theme explores how trainees
Approaches in Procedural Training	are trained for procedural skills.
	Example:
	• "For our trainees, yes, I think it goes
	to the procedural skills days where we
	will go through the same thing over
	and over and over again to ensure
	that they are getting more deliberate
	practice with regards to certain

	procedures and ensuring that that's happening." P18
Decrease in Procedural Opportunities for Experts Lead to Skill Decay	Definition: This theme explores the procedural skill decay faced by experts and trainees. Example: • "The one thing I will say is that working in an academic center, it's actually really difficult to maintain yourself as an expert by also teaching trainees because all the things I just told you, I don't do the procedures myself very often anymore." P16

REFERENCES

- 1. White J, Rowan-Legg A, Writer H, Chanchlani R, Gupta R. Procedural skill needs for Canadian paediatricians: A national profile. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2021;26(6):e265-e271. doi:10.1093/pch/pxaa103
- 2. Jung JJ, Jüni P, Lebovic G, Grantcharov T. First-year Analysis of the Operating Room Black Box Study. *Ann Surg.* 2020;271(1):122-127. doi:10.1097/SLA.000000000002863
- 3. Silverstein M, Fox PM, Curtin C. Thinking Outside the Operating Room: Guidance on Designing a Safe and Effective Minor Procedure Room. *J Hand Surg.* 2023;48(1):77-81. doi:10.1016/j.jhsa.2022.10.005
- 4. Bandiera G, Sherbino J, Frank JR. The CanMEDS Assessment Tools Handbook. An introductory guide to assessment methods for the CanMEDS competencies. Published online 2006.
- 5. Gaies MG, Landrigan CP, Hafler JP, Sandora TJ. Assessing Procedural Skills Training in Pediatric Residency Programs. *Pediatrics*. 2007;120(4):715-722. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-0325
- Mittiga MR, FitzGerald MR, Kerrey BT. A Survey Assessment of Perceived Importance and Methods of Maintenance of Critical Procedural Skills in Pediatric Emergency Medicine. *Pediatr Emerg Care*. 2019;35(8):552-557. doi:10.1097/PEC.0000000000000991
- 7. Al Maawali A, Amin H, Baerg K, et al. *To sim or not to sim*—choosing wisely for procedural skills training in paediatrics. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2022;27(4):220-224. doi:10.1093/pch/pxac010
- 8. Cormier S, Chan M, Yaskina M, Van Manen M. Exploring paediatric residents' perceptions of competency in neonatal intensive care. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2019;24(1):25-29. doi:10.1093/pch/pxy061
- 9. Levy R, Dubrowski A, Amin H, Bismilla Z. Procedural skills in paediatric residency: Re-evaluating the competencies. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2014;19(4):180-184. doi:10.1093/pch/19.4.180
- 10. Bismilla Z, Dubrowski A, Amin HJ. Program directors' perceptions of importance of pediatric procedural skills and resident preparedness. *BMC Res Notes*. 2015;8(1):550. doi:10.1186/s13104-015-1499-8
- 11. Harold K. S, Francis S. Confidence in performance of pediatric emergency medicine procedures by community emergency practitioners.pdf. Published online 1996.

- 12. Ben-Isaac E, Keefer M, Thompson M, Wang VJ. Assessing the Utility of Procedural Training for Pediatrics Residents in General Pediatric Practice. *J Grad Med Educ*. 2013;5(1):88-92. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-11-00255.1
- 13. Fein JA, Ganesh J, Alpern ER. Medical Staff Attitudes Toward Family Presence During Pediatric Procedures: *Pediatr Emerg Care*. 2004;20(4):224-227. doi:10.1097/01.pec.0000121241.99242.3b
- Bradford KK, Kost S, Selbst SM, Renwick AE, Pratt A. Family Member Presence for Procedures: The Resident's Perspective. *Ambul Pediatr*. 2005;5(5):294-297. doi:10.1367/A04-024R1.1
- 15. Ferris HA, O' Flynn D. Assessment in Medical Education; What Are We Trying to Achieve? *Int J High Educ*. 2015;4(2):p139. doi:10.5430/ijhe.v4n2p139
- 16. Epstein RM. Assessment in Medical Education. *N Engl J Med*. Published online 2007.
- 18. Pugh D, Cavalcanti RB, Halman S, et al. Using the Entrustable Professional Activities Framework in the Assessment of Procedural Skills. *J Grad Med Educ*. 2017;9(2):209-214. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-16-00282.1
- 19. Ahmed K, Miskovic D, Darzi A, Athanasiou T, Hanna GB. Observational tools for assessment of procedural skills: a systematic review. *Am J Surg*. 2011;202(4):469-480.e6. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.10.020
- 20. Lockyer J, Carraccio C, Chan MK, et al. Core principles of assessment in competency-based medical education. *Med Teach*. 2017;39(6):609-616. doi:10.1080/0142159X.2017.1315082
- 21. Rudolph JW, Simon R, Raemer DB, Eppich WJ. Debriefing as Formative Assessment: Closing Performance Gaps in Medical Education. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15(11):1010-1016. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00248.x
- 22. Harrison CJ, Könings KD, Schuwirth LWT, Wass V, Van Der Vleuten CPM. Changing the culture of assessment: the dominance of the summative assessment paradigm. *BMC Med Educ*. 2017;17(1):73. doi:10.1186/s12909-017-0912-5

- 23. Witheridge A, Ferns G, Scott-Smith W. Revisiting Miller's pyramid in medical education: the gap between traditional assessment and diagnostic reasoning. *Int J Med Educ.* 2019;10:191-192. doi:10.5116/ijme.5d9b.0c37
- 24. Ten Cate O, Carraccio C, Damodaran A, et al. Entrustment Decision Making: Extending Miller's Pyramid. *Acad Med.* 2021;96(2):199-204. doi:10.1097/ACM.0000000000003800
- 25. Norcini JJ, McKinley DW. Assessment methods in medical education. *Teach Teach Educ*. 2007;23(3):239-250. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2006.12.021
- 26. Govaerts MJB, Van Der Vleuten CPM, Schuwirth LWT, Muijtjens AMM. Broadening Perspectives on Clinical Performance Assessment: Rethinking the Nature of In-training Assessment. *Adv Health Sci Educ*. 2007;12(2):239-260. doi:10.1007/s10459-006-9043-1
- 27. Miller A, Archer J. Impact of workplace based assessment on doctors' education and performance: a systematic review. *BMJ*. 2010;341(sep24 1):c5064-c5064. doi:10.1136/bmj.c5064
- 28. Prentice S, Benson J, Kirkpatrick E, Schuwirth L. Workplace-based assessments in postgraduate medical education: A hermeneutic review. *Med Educ*. 2020;54(11):981-992. doi:10.1111/medu.14221
- 29. Kogan JR, Hatala R, Hauer KE, Holmboe E. Guidelines: The do's, don'ts and don't knows of direct observation of clinical skills in medical education. *Perspect Med Educ*. 2017;6(5):286-305. doi:10.1007/S40037-017-0376-7
- 30. Van Loon KA, Driessen EW, Teunissen PW, Scheele F. Experiences with EPAs, potential benefits and pitfalls. *Med Teach*. 2014;36(8):698-702. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2014.909588
- 31. Pangaro L, Ten Cate O. Frameworks for learner assessment in medicine: AMEE Guide No. 78. *Med Teach*. 2013;35(6):e1197-e1210. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2013.788789
- 32. Kunkler K. The role of medical simulation: an overview. *Int J Med Robot*. 2006;2(3):203-210. doi:10.1002/rcs.101
- 33. Weinberg ER, Auerbach MA, Shah NB. The use of simulation for pediatric training and assessment. *Curr Opin Pediatr*. 2009;21(3):282-287. doi:10.1097/MOP.0b013e32832b32dc

- 34. Krishnan DG, Anukesh Vasu Keloth, Shaikh Ubedulla. Pros and cons of simulation in medical education: A review. *International Journal of Medical and Health Research*. 2017;3(6).
- 35. McGaghie WC, Issenberg SB, Petrusa ER, Scalese RJ. A critical review of simulation-based medical education research: 2003–2009: Simulation-based medical education research 2003–2009. *Med Educ*. 2010;44(1):50-63. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2009.03547.x
- 36. El Miedany Y. *Rheumatology Teaching: The Art and Science of Medical Education*. Springer International Publishing; 2019. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-98213-7
- 37. Sawyer T, Sierocka-Castaneda A, Chan D, Berg B, Lustik M, Thompson M. Deliberate Practice Using Simulation Improves Neonatal Resuscitation Performance. *Simul Healthc J Soc Simul Healthc*. 2011;6(6):327-336. doi:10.1097/SIH.0b013e31822b1307
- 38. Velmahos GC, Toutouzas KG, Sillin LF, et al. Cognitive task analysis for teaching technical skills in an inanimate surgical skills laboratory. *Am J Surg*. 2004;187(1):114-119. doi:10.1016/j.amjsurg.2002.12.005
- 39. Andler C, Daya S, Kowalek K, Boscardin C, Van Schaik SM. E-ASSESS: Creating an EPA Assessment Tool for Structured Simulated Emergency Scenarios. *J Grad Med Educ*. 2020;12(2):153-158. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-19-00533.1
- 40. Carraccio C, Wolfsthal SD, Englander R, Ferentz K, Martin C. Shifting Paradigms: From Flexner to Competencies. *Acad Med.* 2002;77(5):361-367. doi:10.1097/00001888-200205000-00003
- 41. Ladhani M, Cameron S. MAC-CBME Competency Based Medical Education. 2019. Accessed April 15, 2024. https://cbmepg.mcmaster.ca/app/uploads/2020/05/MAC-CBME-Guide-Version-2.1-Jan-2019.pdf
- 42. Miller F, Wood S, Livingston P. The lived experience of Competence by Design: Canadian resident physicians' perspectives. *Can J Anesth Can Anesth*. 2024;71(2):254-263. doi:10.1007/s12630-023-02678-x
- 43. Caverzagie KJ, Nousiainen MT, Ferguson PC, et al. Overarching challenges to the implementation of competency-based medical education. *Med Teach*. 2017;39(6):588-593. doi:10.1080/0142159X.2017.1315075
- 44. Touchie C, Ten Cate O. The promise, perils, problems and progress of competency-based medical education. *Med Educ*. 2016;50(1):93-100. doi:10.1111/medu.12839

- 45. What is Competence by Design? What is Competence by Design? 2024. Accessed April 13, 2024. https://www.royalcollege.ca/en/cbd/understanding-cbd/what-is-cbd.html
- 46. About CBD. Competency Based Medical Education. Accessed May 18, 2024. https://cbmepg.mcmaster.ca/about-cbd/
- 47. EPAs and CanMEDS Milestones. 2024. Accessed April 15, 2024. https://www.royalcollege.ca/en/cbd/cbd-implementation/specialty-education-design/cbd-milestones-epas.html
- 48. Entrustable Professional Activities for Pediatrics. Published online 2021. https://www.royalcollege.ca/content/dam/documents/ibd/pediatrics/epa-guide-pediatrics-e.pdf
- 49. Frank JR, Snell LS, Cate OT, et al. Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. *Med Teach*. 2010;32(8):638-645. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2010.501190
- 50. Blades ML, Glaze S, McQuillan SK. Resident Perspectives on Competency-By-Design Curriculum. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can.* 2020;42(3):242-247. doi:10.1016/j.jogc.2019.07.005
- 51. Holmboe ES, Sherbino J, Englander R, Snell L, Frank JR, on behalf of the ICBME Collaborators. A call to action: The controversy of and rationale for competency-based medical education. *Med Teach*. 2017;39(6):574-581. doi:10.1080/0142159X.2017.1315067
- 52. Govaerts M, Van Der Vleuten CP. Validity in work-based assessment: expanding our horizons. *Med Educ*. 2013;47(12):1164-1174. doi:10.1111/medu.12289
- 53. Aube-Peterkin M, Ehlebracht A, Petrella F. Feedback and formative assessment in Competency by Design: The experience of residents and supervisors within a urology training program. *Can Urol Assoc J.* 2022;17(4). doi:10.5489/cuaj.8103
- 54. Stumbar SE, Eliason S, Toonkel R, et al. Next steps for workplace-based assessments of entrustable professional activities. *Clin Teach*. Published online February 5, 2024:e13739. doi:10.1111/tct.13739
- 55. Hilliard R, Bannister SL, Amin H, Baird B. Paediatric medical education: Challenges and new developments. *Paediatr Child Health*. 2009;14(5):303-309.
- 56. Competence by Design. Department of Pediatrics. 2024. Accessed April 18, 2024. https://www.mcgill.ca/peds/education-training/pgme/programs/generalpediatrics/residencyprogram/cbd

- 57. Entrustable Professional Activities for Pediatrics. Published online 2021. https://www.royalcollege.ca/content/dam/documents/ibd/pediatrics/epa-guide-pediatrics-e.pdf
- 58. Ericsson KA, Lehmann AC. EXPERT AND EXCEPTIONAL PERFORMANCE: Evidence of Maximal Adaptation to Task Constraints. *Annu Rev Psychol*. 1996;47(1):273-305. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.47.1.273
- 59. Peña A. The Dreyfus model of clinical problem-solving skills acquisition: a critical perspective. *Med Educ Online*. 2010;15(1):4846. doi:10.3402/meo.v15i0.4846
- 60. Burgess A, Van Diggele C, Roberts C, Mellis C. Tips for teaching procedural skills. *BMC Med Educ*. 2020;20(S2):458. doi:10.1186/s12909-020-02284-1
- 61. Das S, Biswas D. Competence Learning Model. *Int J Manag Technol Eng.* Published online 2018:1955-1964.
- 62. Ericsson KA, Chamess N. Its Structure and Acquisition. *Am Psychol*. Published online 1994.
- 63. Anders Ericsson K. Deliberate Practice and Acquisition of Expert Performance: A General Overview. *Acad Emerg Med.* 2008;15(11):988-994. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00227.x
- 64. Ericsson KA, Krampe RT, Tesch-Romer C. The Role of Deliberate Practice in the Acquisition of Expert Performance.
- 65. Mitchell SA, Boyer TJ. Deliberate Practice in Medical Simulation. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2024. Accessed July 7, 2024. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK554558/
- 66. Ericsson KA. Deliberate Practice and the Acquisition and Maintenance of Expert Performance in Medicine and Related Domains: *Acad Med*. 2004;79(Supplement):S70-S81. doi:10.1097/00001888-200410001-00022
- 67. Paige JT, Sonesh SC, Garbee DD, Bonanno LS, eds. *Comprehensive Healthcare Simulation: InterProfessional Team Training and Simulation*. Springer International Publishing; 2020. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-28845-7
- 68. Madani A, Vassiliou MC, Watanabe Y, et al. What Are the Principles That Guide Behaviors in the Operating Room?: Creating a Framework to Define and Measure Performance. *Ann Surg.* 2017;265(2):255-267. doi:10.1097/SLA.000000000001962

- 69. LaDonna KA, Artino AR, Balmer DF. Beyond the Guise of Saturation: Rigor and Qualitative Interview Data. *J Grad Med Educ*. 2021;13(5):607-611. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-21-00752.1
- 70. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qual Res Sport Exerc Health*. 2019;11(4):589-597. doi:10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806
- 71. Ounounou E, Aydin A, Brunckhorst O, Khan MS, Dasgupta P, Ahmed K. Nontechnical Skills in Surgery: A Systematic Review of Current Training Modalities. *J Surg Educ*. 2019;76(1):14-24. doi:10.1016/j.jsurg.2018.05.017
- 73. Madani A, Keller DS. Assessing and improving intraoperative judgement. *Br J Surg*. 2019;106(13):1723-1725. doi:10.1002/bjs.11386
- 74. Weller JM, Mahajan R, Fahey-Williams K, Webster CS. Teamwork matters: team situation awareness to build high-performing healthcare teams, a narrative review. *Br J Anaesth*. 2024;132(4):771-778. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2023.12.035
- 75. Feller S, Feller L, Bhayat A, Feller G, Khammissa RAG, Vally ZI. Situational Awareness in the Context of Clinical Practice. *Healthcare*. 2023;11(23):3098. doi:10.3390/healthcare11233098
- 76. Sahney R, Malhotra P, Mohanan A. Elevating healthcare with emotional intelligence: Lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Curr Med Res Pract*. 2024;14(4):181-185. doi:10.4103/cmrp.cmrp_34_24
- 77. Cook TM, MacDougall-Davis SR. Complications and failure of airway management. *Br J Anaesth.* 2012;109:i68-i85. doi:10.1093/bja/aes393
- 78. Flin R, Yule S, Paterson-Brown S, Maran N, Rowley D, Youngson G. Teaching surgeons about non-technical skills. *The Surgeon*. 2007;5(2):86-89. doi:10.1016/S1479-666X(07)80059-X
- 79. Dedy NJ, Bonrath EM, Ahmed N, Grantcharov TP. Structured Training to Improve Nontechnical Performance of Junior Surgical Residents in the Operating Room: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann Surg.* 2016;263(1):43-49. doi:10.1097/SLA.000000000001186
- 80. Brunckhorst O, Shahid S, Aydin A, et al. The Relationship Between Technical And Nontechnical Skills Within A Simulation-Based Ureteroscopy Training Environment. *J Surg Educ*. 2015;72(5):1039-1044. doi:10.1016/j.jsurg.2015.04.002

- 81. Jenkins L, Ekberg S, Wang NC. Communication in Pediatric Healthcare: A State-of-the-Art Literature Review of Conversation-Analytic Research. *Res Lang Soc Interact*. 2024;57(1):91-108. doi:10.1080/08351813.2024.2305046
- 82. CanMEDS Framework. The CanMEDS Framework. 2025. Accessed July 22, 2025. https://www.royalcollege.ca/en/standards-and-accreditation/canmeds.html
- 83. Stalmeijer RE, Brown MEL, O'Brien BC. How to discuss transferability of qualitative research in health professions education. *Clin Teach*. 2024;21(6):e13762. doi:10.1111/tct.13762

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: INTERVIEW GUIDE

Title: Procedural Expertise: Sample Interview Questions

MSc Student: Ms. Jasmin Dhanoa

Supervisor: Dr Elif Bilgic

Before we dive deep into the interview, I will be providing a simple definition of Procedural Skills, just to make sure that we have a shared understanding. In simple terms, procedural skills can be defined as "the mental and motor activities required to execute a manual task. Procedural skill competence requires both safe technical performance and appropriate knowledge for decision-making in the preparation, performance and post-performance phases of the procedure."

- 1. Before we dive into the questions, can you please tell me a little bit about your medical training, background, and faculty position in the hospital.
- **2.** Within your practice, what are the procedures that you perform that you would categorize as high stakes versus low stakes?
 - **a.** What makes these procedures high stakes?
 - **b.** What makes these procedures low stakes?
- **3.** What are the procedures that you perform that you would categorize as easy versus difficult?
 - **a.** What makes these procedures easy?
 - **b.** What makes these procedures difficult?
- **4.** What are the procedures that you perform that you would categorize as common versus rare?
 - **a.** What makes these procedures common?
 - **b.** What makes these procedures rare?

With the following questions in this interview, we want to unpack what expertise is for procedures, based on your own experiences and perceptions. Just so that we have a shared understanding, an expert can be defined as an individual who "devote[s] most of their lives to attaining the highest levels of performance in a highly constrained activity."

We understand that each procedure has their own unique required clinical skills, but we ask that you think of the different procedures you perform/expected to perform across

the 3 categories and provide us with your perspective on how you approach a procedure. And feel free to give examples from specific procedures.

- 5. Please describe the major steps and tasks required to perform the high stakes procedures. I know that there are several procedures that you have categorized as high stakes, so we are interested in the general approach that you take before, during, and after performing a high stakes procedure. You can use one of the procedures as an example to start with.
 - **a.** How is your approach, including major steps and tasks, similar or different when performing one of the low stakes procedures?
 - **b.** What about for the easy versus difficult procedures?
 - c. Common versus rare?
- **6.** Based on your experiences, when you are the lead physician what knowledge and skills (technical and non-technical) do you believe are necessary to perform a procedure at the expert level? We will first start with the high stakes procedures that you perform, and feel free to give examples from specific procedures.
 - **a.** How do you approach unexpected events (e.g., complications, inability to move forward to due anatomy) in the high stakes procedures that might be different than the routine course of action?
 - **b.** How do you decide when adaptations are necessary and which adaptation to choose in the high stakes procedures?

How are your responses similar or different to low stakes procedures?

- c. How do you approach unexpected events in the low stakes procedures?
- **d.** How do you decide when adaptations are necessary and which adaptation to choose in the low stakes procedures?
- 7. Now think of the easy versus difficult procedures. What skills (technical and non-technical) do you believe are necessary to perform these procedures at the expert level?
 - **a.** Are there any differences to how you would approach unexpected events in easy versus difficult procedures?
 - **b.** What about when deciding that adaptations are necessary and which adaptation to choose?
- **8.** Now think of the common versus rare procedures. What skills (technical and non-technical) do you believe are necessary to perform these procedures at the expert level?
 - **a.** Are there any differences to how you would approach unexpected events compared to your responses before?
 - **b.** Are there any differences when deciding that adaptations are necessary and which adaptation to choose?

- **9.** When you perform one of the high stakes procedures with a (junior or senior) trainee, which skills do you observe them struggling with? Again, feel free to give examples from specific procedures.
 - **a.** How about the low stakes procedures?
- **10.** What skills in the easy procedures do you observe trainees having an easier time performing (junior or senior residents)? Please give specific examples.
 - **a.** How about the difficult procedures?
 - **b.** Do you think these are still important for procedural performance at the expert level?
- 11. What about for easy procedures, which skills do you observe trainees (a) struggling with, and (b) having an easier time with?
 - **a.** How about for the difficult procedures?
- 12. Are there any differences in your responses for common versus rare procedures, regarding which skills do you observe trainees (a) struggling with, and (b) having an easier time with?
- **13.** How does your program currently train trainees (residents, subspecialty residents/fellows) for procedures? (probe: watching videos, conferences, professional development workshops, simulation training etc.)
- **14.** Based on all the answers that you have given above, do you think the features of expertise that you have mentioned across the 3 procedure categories are specific to a certain procedure or could there be general principles that apply to all procedures?
- **15.** How much simulation training is involved in your program to teach procedural skills?
 - a. Which of the 3 procedure category(ies) is the focus of simulation training?
 - b. Types of simulators used for which skill
 - c. Frequency of the sessions
 - d. Instructors
 - e. How effective do you think this training is?
 - f. Are there unmet needs not being addressed by the current simulation efforts to teach procedural skills?
- **16.** Deliberate practice can be defined as purposeful training to improve performance in a specific skill. Do you use deliberate practice in your own continuing professional development and/or to train trainees for procedural skills, in the clinical and simulation settings?
 - **a.** If yes, what are some examples of instances where you use deliberate practice in your own career and/or in training trainees?
- 17. Before we conclude the interview, is there anything else you'd like to share with me about procedural expertise that we haven't yet covered?